



July 2025 AMERICA'S DATA FUTURE Towards a Roadmap for Action

A Report of the Center for Open Data Enterprise (CODE)



America's Data Future: Towards A Roadmap for Action

A Report of the Center for Open Data Enterprise (CODE)

July 2025

Table of Contents

Click to go to the desired section.

Introduction: Government Data at a Turning Point	4
Executive Summary	6
The History and Status of U.S. Data	8
The Risks to Future Federal Data	11
Defunding or Dismantling Departments and Agencies	12
Defunding Scientific Research	13
Disbanding Advisory Committees	14
Loss of Disaggregated Data	16
Loss of Access to Restricted Data	17
Changes to Established Data Collection and Reporting	17
The Impacts of Data Loss	18
Strategies for Today: A Portfolio of Approaches	19
Philanthropic Support	20
Foundational Work: Monitoring, Analysis, and Data Rescue	20
Coalitions for Advocacy	21
Opportunities for Government Engagement	21
Executive Office and Federal Agencies	21
Engaging with Congress	23
Public Engagement	24
Legal Strategies	25
Mandates for Specific Data Collections	25
Lawsuits from the States	25
Data Requirements for Defunded Agencies	25
The First Amendment Argument	26
Leveraging the Evidence Act and the PRA	26
Demonstrating the Harm of Data Loss	27
Strategies for the Future: New Data Sources	28
Administrative Data	28
State and Local Data	29
Data from Non-Government Sources	29

Non-traditional Data Sources	30
Conclusion: Towards a Roadmap for Action	31
Work with Government	31
Take Collaborative Action	32
Pursue Advocacy	32
Develop New Data Sources	33
Acknowledgments	34
About CODE	34
About the Author	34
Acronym List	35
Creative Commons	37
References	38

Introduction: Government Data at a Turning Point

America's federal data is so diverse that it's hard to summarize the ways it impacts industry, public services, and daily life. The country has vast stores of public data - roughly 300,000 public datasets at the current count. Federal data is the basis for economic measurement and metrics, climate predictions, public health and educational programs, and more, and has fueled a wide range of local and national initiatives.

U.S. federal data is so valuable because most of it is *open data* that can be freely used, reused, and distributed by anyone for any purpose.³ Americans interact with open federal data in innumerable Web searches, every time they use their phones' GPS systems, and whenever they check a weather forecast. In recent years, the U.S. has been part of a global movement to promote open government data and its use. Since 2009, the U.S. government has set policies, passed legislation, and taken practical steps to improve the government's open data resources, with virtually unanimous bipartisan support. That progress has put the U.S. on a strong path to more effective data-driven policymaking.

Now that progress may be stalled. Under President Trump's leadership, agencies and offices across the U.S. government are rapidly reviewing, altering, and cutting major parts of the U.S. data infrastructure.

Since January 2025, the federal government has taken down websites and datasets, decreased staffing and funding for data-providing agencies, modified surveys and data collections, and laid the groundwork for changes to long-established data programs. Some of these actions have been aligned with the administration's political priorities, including an opposition to DEI programs and "gender ideology." Some data collections have been cut or reduced through efforts to reduce government spending, including the work of the Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE) and its aftermath. In some cases, agencies are altering or discontinuing data collections that they see as flawed. And in still other cases, like discontinuing a database on domestic terrorism and targeted violence, the rationale is hard to understand.⁴

There is no question that America's data systems need reform. Many government data sources, platforms, and tools are not interoperable with each other, are difficult to access or share, and are not ready to support AI applications. Our data infrastructure is dependent on legacy systems that go back decades and are often inefficient, hard to use, and outmoded. Data experts inside and outside of government have been working to solve these problems, following guidance from legislation and government directives.

While these experts support data reform, however, many are concerned that there is no clear, comprehensive strategy guiding the major changes now being made. They worry that the administration is ignoring established procedures, deleting data without assessing its value, or eliminating data that could support conclusions it disagrees with. ProPublica has described the administration's actions as a "war on measurement." ⁵

Some of these actions may be reversed through court challenges, in response to public pressure, or because government leaders have reconsidered them. Agencies are rehiring many federal workers who were fired in haste, and they may also rethink some hasty cuts to important data sources.⁶ But whatever the final outcome, the lesson is clear: The nation's data ecosystem is not immune to change, and we cannot assume that our federal data is an immutable national resource.

Dealing with this new reality is a complex challenge for open data advocates, who want to both preserve the nation's data and reform how it is collected and managed. For example, many advocates have protested the extreme cuts to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) that have endangered studies of educational attainment.⁷ At the same time, some of those same advocates have criticized NCES for years for gathering data in outmoded, inefficient ways. The question is: How can we ensure the future of essential data while also improving, rethinking, or discontinuing data collections that need to be changed?

The best path forward is a thoughtful approach that *monitors* changes to federal data as they occur, *protects* the most valuable data for public use, and *improves* datasets and the systems that support them where necessary. At a time of disruption, we have an opportunity to reconsider the ways the nation collects its data, manages it, and publishes it. We can identify the core data collections that must be protected for continuity and long-term tracking; improve those that can be managed more efficiently and effectively; and prioritize data resources for preservation, development, and use.

Data advocates can also leverage government actions designed to improve the nation's data infrastructure and analytic capacity. The One Big Beautiful Bill Act (OBBBA), signed by President Trump on July 4, and the President's recommended Budget for 2026 include some provisions to improve the country's data infrastructure.^{8,9} The President's Budget recommends consolidation of some statistical agencies, while OBBBA funds programs to improve the use of open scientific data and use AI to reduce waste, fraud, and abuse.^{10,11,12} These changes will require accurate, reliable, and complete data to be successful, which strengthens the case for preserving and improving essential data sources.

The nonprofit Center for Open Data Enterprise (CODE) is publishing this report - written by CODE President Joel Gurin - to provide an in-depth analysis of the current disruptions to federal data and propose a draft Roadmap for Action. The report presents strategies for preserving critical data collections, finding new, additional data sources, and improving our national data infrastructure over time. CODE has also created a U.S. Data Action Hub (bit.ly/us-data-action-hub) with information on dozens of organizations working on these issues.

We plan to update this report and the Action Hub as events impact the national data landscape. CODE welcomes new information, corrections, and ideas and opportunities for collaboration. Suggestions should be sent to CODE's President at joel@odenterprise.org.

Executive Summary

The U.S. has had a strong bipartisan consensus that open federal data is an essential public good. Since 2009, initiatives by Presidents Obama, Trump, and Biden and two acts of Congress have made federal data more accessible, transparent, and useful. The current presidential administration has not challenged these established principles. However, the administration has altered many government data programs on an individual basis, often with the rationale that they do not align with the President's priorities.

Civil society has responded to these actions with a data rescue movement to archive critical datasets and keep them publicly available. There is a good chance that the movement will be able to save most of the federal data that was available in January 2025.

The greater risk, however, is to the future. The data we have today will not be very useful in a year or two, and future data collections are now under threat. Since the start of the Trump Administration, the federal government has:

- Dismantled and defunded agencies that collect data mandated by Congress
- Discontinued specific data programs
- Defunded research that can be a source of open scientific data
- Disbanded advisory committees for the U.S. Census Bureau and other data-collecting agencies and offices
- Removed data disaggregated by sexual orientation and gender identity
- Proposed changing established methods of data collection and publishing in some key areas

These changes can have a major impact on the many institutions - including state and local governments, businesses, civil society organizations, and more - that depend on federal data for policymaking, decision making, and growth.

This paper analyzes the current situation, reports on strategies to preserve federal data, and concludes with a draft Roadmap for Action. It recommends a path that combines engagement with government, collaboration, advocacy, and innovation, described in detail at the end of this report. The Roadmap includes the following recommendations.

• Work with Government

Engage with the Executive Branch on positive reforms. Some federal reforms now
in the works could improve statistical systems, make data collection more
efficient, and make government data more useful. Stakeholders with an interest in
federal data can support and influence these plans.

- Work with members of Congress and promote new legislation. Advocates with a stake in government data can build on longstanding Congressional support for open data in the public interest.
- Align with the administration's AI goals. The administration's AI goals depend on large and accurate data sources - including major government data collections and thus provide an opportunity for data advocates.
- Build cross-state data collaborations. Experience with health data during COVID has demonstrated how state data can become a more valuable national resource.

• Take Collaborative Action

- o *Continue data rescue efforts*. Organizations that are now archiving government data will need to continue preserving data and making it widely available.
- Activate philanthropy. Foundations can help preserve mission-critical data, support data rescue efforts, and fund research for new data creation.
- Foster nonprofit collaborations. Organizations that are advocating for government data in different ways can collaborate for greater impact.
- *Prioritize the most valuable data*. Data providers and users in different sectors can collaborate to prioritize the most important data and focus their efforts.
- Engage with the public. Data advocates should ensure that federal agencies engage with stakeholders on their data programs, as they are required to do.

• Pursue Advocacy

- Make the case for robust public data. Several organizations are now collecting compelling use cases for public data, which can help communicate the data's value.
- Form alliances for advocacy. State and local governments, civil society organizations, and businesses have common interests in a strong national data ecosystem.
- o *Promote disaggregated data*. Data on race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, and disability is essential for both business needs and the public good.
- Leverage legal protections. A number of lawsuits and wins in court are demonstrating diverse legal strategies for protecting public data.

• Develop New Data Sources

- Leverage administrative data. With appropriate privacy protections, federal, state, and local government records can become a new source of data for public use.
- Explore non-traditional data sources. AI analysis of mobile, social media, and other kinds of data, as well as established methodologies like crowdsourcing, can augment government data.

What this Report Is Not About

The changes to America's data systems have raised several important issues that are beyond the scope of this report, which focuses on federal open data for public use. They include the following.

- Data privacy and security. DOGE has gained access to sensitive databases containing personally identifiable information, raising alarms about the potential for unprecedented government surveillance or private-sector data mining.¹⁴ Privacy advocates have also raised concerns about the creation of a national citizenship database and about plans to share IRS data with ICE.¹⁵ ¹⁶The privacy issues raised by these actions are beyond the scope of this paper to analyze. However, it's important to note that escalating fears about data privacy may make Americans more reluctant to respond to government surveys, including the U.S. Census.¹⁷
- *Performance data*. Federal agencies continue to need data on the effectiveness of their own programs. While this data is important both for agencies' internal use and for public accountability, it may be at less risk than other data for public use.
- International data. The loss of some U.S. data is also a loss for the international community, as CODE has written here. 18 Conversely, some data from other countries or intergovernmental organizations may be able to substitute for U.S. data collections. (Examples include the World Bank's Data 360 program and data from European satellites.) 19 It's still too early to know how these international impacts and opportunities will play out.
- The use of FOIA. DOGE has made staff cuts to the office that administers the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA).²⁰ Cuts like these may make it harder for Americans to request and access government documents that contain information and data they need.

The History and Status of U.S. Data

The U.S. has enjoyed an enviable public data system that goes back to 1790, when Thomas Jefferson administered the first count of the country's 3.9 million people.²¹ The last 100 years, and particularly the last decade and a half, have seen major legislative, executive, and administrative initiatives to ensure the quality of government records and data.

A Timeline of Data Progress

- 1934: National Archives created to centralize federal record-keeping.²²
- 1946: Administrative Procedure Act (APA) enacted; includes processes for data collections.²³
- 1974: The Privacy Act establishes fair information practices for the collection, management, and use of individuals' information from federal records.²⁴
- 1980: Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA) lays out guidelines for federal information collections. 25
- 1995: PRA is revised with added requirements for agencies to seek public comment on proposed information collections and then have them reviewed by the White House Office of Management and Budget (OMB).²⁶
- **2000:** Information Quality Act is enacted to ensure the quality, objectivity, utility, and integrity of statistical and other information from federal agencies.²⁷
- 2009: President Obama issues a memorandum on transparency and open government on day one of his presidency.²⁸
- 2009: Launch of data.gov, the federal government's centralized portal to all open government data.²⁹
- 2013: President Obama issues an executive order to make open and machine-readable data the new default for government information.³⁰ OMB simultaneously releases an Open Data Policy that builds on the administration's open data initiatives already under way.^{31,32}
- 2014: The Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (the DATA Act) is enacted to establish new standards for the transparency of federal spending data, made available through the website USASpending.gov.^{33, 34, 35}
- 2018: President Trump signs the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act (the Evidence Act), which sets requirements for all federal data.³⁶
- 2021: President Trump continues the government's commitment to open data by launching the Federal Data Strategy. 37,38 The Strategy, developed through a collaborative effort involving 23 agencies, is designed to guide annual action plans over the following decade to "leverage data as a strategic asset." 39
- 2025: In the last week of the Biden administration, OMB issues a long-awaited memorandum with specific guidance on open government data access and management under the Evidence Act. 40

The Evidence Act of 2018 established the current framework for making federal data open, accessible, and usable. Title II of the Evidence Act, known as the OPEN Government Data Act, required agencies to publish data in machine-readable formats, develop data inventories, and designate Chief Data Officers (CDOs). It also established a CDO Council within OMB.⁴¹

The Evidence Act guaranteed the independence of federal statistical agencies. The Data Foundation, a nonprofit concerned with Evidence Act implementation, notes that the Act "created a clear framework for statistical agency independence with support from parent agencies and departments to those statistical activities. This framework [known as the Public Trust rule] unambiguously places decision-making authority for federal statistical activities with statistical agency leadership, not with external entities." ^{42, 43} The Public Trust rule is particularly important in light of the current risk that government statistics could be politically manipulated.

Over the last decade and a half, support for the expansion and use of federal open data has been thoroughly bipartisan. The DATA Act and the Evidence Act - one signed by President Obama, and one by President Trump - were passed by Congress almost unanimously. In President

Trump's second term so far, the overall amount of public data available has remained about the same: At the 100-day mark, data.gov actually provided access to more datasets than it did on Inauguration Day.⁴⁴

At the same time, however, many individual data collections have been put at risk. Beginning in January 2025 many websites and their data sources were taken down indefinitely, or taken down temporarily and then reposted with significant changes. Changes were triggered by Executive Orders on diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) and "gender ideology," administration policies on climate change, and lists of "banned words" issued by the administration. ^{45, 46, 47, 48} While some changes only involved altering or deleting text, others impacted data sources and tools.

A data rescue movement has emerged rapidly as a response to these changes. Across the U.S., and with some international support, thousands of technologists and subject matter experts have taken on the labor-intensive task of downloading and archiving federal datasets. Public Environmental Data Partners, which has been a model for collaborative action, rapidly recreated the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) EJScreen and the Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool (CEJST) developed under President Biden. 49, 50, 51 On another level, a Harvard Law School Library project has been able to replicate all of data.gov, showing the potential to archive federal data in bulk. 52 The Data Rescue Project is now tracking these and similar efforts. 53 Some European organizations are also trying to save American climate data and tools, and *The Guardian* has recreated a FEMA map of U.S. climate risk. 54, 55

These heroic efforts, however, are limited by a simple fact: You can only archive data that already exists. Even if data rescuers save all the data that was available in January 2025, that data won't be very useful in 2026 or 2027. The biggest risk now is to future data much more than the data we already have.

Three Expert Views: A Snapshot in Time

In May 2025, CODE co-hosted a webinar on *Ensuring the Future of Federal Data* with the Technology Leadership Standing Panel of the National Academy of Public Administration (NAPA).⁵⁶ The one-hour webinar, available on video and as a podcast, provided insights from three experts in data policy, civil rights, and national statistics.^{57, 58} Their analysis has also informed this report. Here are some excerpts, edited for brevity and clarity.

• On approaches to government data under recent administrations: President Obama was all about open data, including the Open Government Directive and the launch of data.gov.⁵⁹ In the first Trump administration, data efforts were exemplified by the signing of the Evidence Act of 2018, in a push to turn data into evidence to improve government policymaking. Under Biden, we built on the capacity established in the previous two administrations to focus on improving data on race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, and disability.



"And now 100-plus days into the second Trump administration, we're seeing two main areas of action on data. The first is breaking down information silos, for better or worse, to create a master file on all residents, reducing the barriers and safeguards for sharing data across agencies and levels of government. And second, we're seeing significant reductions in the federal government's capacity to collect and publish data."

- Denice Ross, former U.S Chief Data Scientist

• On the biggest risks to federal data from a rights perspective: I'm seeing a deep erosion of public trust. The IRS/ICE data share will have a chilling effect on responses to surveys. 60 People are going to be worried that any data they share with the government will not be used for their benefit.



"Those members of our community that are already the most marginalized, the most underserved, the most underrepresented aren't going to want to respond to government surveys. We may start seeing Census data skewed with a lack of representation of communities of color, of rural communities, of communities with disabilities. Then you're going to see a misallocation of resources, a misallocation of representation, and the inability to tell a story that is reflective of what the actual conditions are that we're experiencing in our society."

- Meeta Anand, Senior Director, Census & Data Equity, The Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights

• On the risks to federal statistical agencies: The benchmarks are whether the data remain available, objective, and credible, and whether the agencies remain trustworthy. Last summer we issued a report called *The Nation's Data at Risk*. These agencies were already at risk, and that makes what we're seeing now all the more impactful.⁶¹ In terms of staffing cuts, the work of the federal statistical agencies is hugely person-intensive, expertise-intensive, and experience-intensive. Losing people most likely means we're going to lose more data products.



"Regarding objectivity, the administration is pushing to make policy-influencing positions at-will positions. If federal statistical agency personnel could be fired by the administration, that is a lever that could be used to try to improperly influence the data, and it raises questions about the objectivity of the data."

- Steve Pierson, Director of Science Policy, American Statistical Association

The Risks to Future Federal Data

The risks to federal data stem partly from the nature of U.S. data infrastructure. The U.S. federal data system is not really a "system" as much as a massive collection of programs run by many different agencies and offices. These include programs to collect and publish official statistics, geospatial data, and many other disparate forms of data. While much federal data is nonpublic for security reasons (e.g. Department of Defense data) or privacy reasons (e.g. health data), the nation maintains massive amounts of open data for public use.

In July 2024 the American Statistical Association (ASA) published the results of a year-long study, *The Nation's Data at Risk*, that described the risks to the nation's statistical agencies - a

critical subset of the agencies that collect all of the country's open data.⁶² Where other countries have national statistical offices (NSOs) that collect and publish statistics in a unified way, the U.S. relies on "an infrastructure of 13 principal statistical agencies (located within 11 larger federal 'parent' agencies) and over 100 other offices throughout the U.S. government." ⁶³

The ASA report, which the organization has followed up with a monitoring program, focused on the 13 principal agencies and found reasons for concern.⁶⁴ Among other issues, they found that these statistical agencies were at risk from a lack of resources, a lack of professional autonomy, and a lack of strong authorizing language in law. These factors are at the core of the following risks to federal data, including non-statistical data collected by federal agencies.

Defunding or Dismantling Departments and Agencies

Critical national data is collected by agencies across the federal government, and if those agencies are defunded or dismantled, health, scientific, social, and economic data may be lost. The administration has implemented massive layoffs and shuttered government programs, including cuts to data-producing departments and agencies - actions that have triggered ongoing litigation.⁶⁵

An early example was the move to eliminate the U.S. Department of Education, which has been responsible for many data and statistical resources. 66 The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) was almost immediately decimated. The NCES has run the quadrennial National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP), widely known as "the nation's report card." Under the Department of Education reorganization, staff for the NCES was cut from more than one hundred to only three. 67

The status of Education data is now in flux. Cuts to the Department of Education were put on hold by a federal judge and then allowed by the Supreme Court in July.⁶⁸ In a June court filing, the Department said it was in the process of reinstating contracts for 20 data collections required by statute, and that plans for the NAEP are proceeding.⁶⁹

Meanwhile, the federal government has been downsizing or eliminating many other agencies, offices, and programs that prepare analyses or collect data required by Congress. For example, the government has defunded the U.S. Global Change Research Program (USGCRP), which produces the National Climate Assessment - a report used by states and communities that Congress requires to be updated in 2027. Major staffing cuts and changes at HHS have put public health information and data at risk. HHS has laid off staff responsible for a number of Congressionally mandated programs, including several that require data collections. For example, under a 1981 law, HHS is required to set poverty guidelines for health programs such as Medicaid, but the HHS office that sets those guidelines has been eliminated. (CODE is now working under a grant from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation on a project to ensure the availability of public health data for the future.)

Even if agencies are not eliminated or dramatically defunded, they are likely to lose staff with data expertise. The nonprofit Data Foundation, which is publishing a monthly Evidence Capacity Pulse Report, found in April that many positions required by the Evidence Act were unstaffed.^{74,75}

The Foundation also noted that statistical agencies, including the Census Bureau, were "experiencing staff departures that challenge historical knowledge and understanding of existing data assets used to produce reliable economic and demographic information." The trend is part of a larger federal "brain drain" triggered by the administration's efforts to reduce the federal workforce. Several economists have warned that inadequate funding and staffing could affect the integrity of critical economic benchmarks. To "I would not want anyone to think the data have deteriorated to a point where it's difficult for us to understand the economy," Federal Reserve Chair Jerome H. Powell told Congress in June. "But the direction of travel is concerning."

Some Selective Data Targets

In addition to broad cuts to major federal agencies, the administration has selectively discontinued a number of data collections that are at odds with its priorities. As a few examples:

- The EPA is discontinuing requirements for industries to report their greenhouse gas emissions, and the OBBBA has eliminated funding for this program. ^{78, 79}
- The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) is discontinuing its program to track billion-dollar disasters, a key source of information on the impact of extreme weather related to climate change.⁸⁰
- The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) are discontinuing the PLACES data program, which has tracked health trends at the county level to provide highly localized community data. 81
- The Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS) program, which collected and published data on population, health, HIV, and nutrition globally, is "currently on pause," as its website says, "due to the on-going review of U.S. foreign assistance programs." 82

Defunding Scientific Research

Over the last few years, the research community has been preparing to open up a wealth of new data from research studies. Under 2022 guidance from the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP), by the end of 2025 recipients of federal research grants will be required to publish their data in open formats for public use. 83 SPARC, an organization that promotes open science, notes that "the new guidance unlocks more than \$90 billion in research that the U.S. government funds each year." 84

Now, with deep cuts planned for the government's major research funders, that potential may not be realized - at least not in the near future. 85 Major staff and funding cuts have been implemented or are planned for the National Institutes of Health (NIH), the largest funder of medical research; the National Science Foundation (NSF), the chief funder of nonmedical research; and NOAA. 86, 87

In April, NIH and NSF grants were terminated en masse and new grant funding was put on hold. 88 Grant Watch, a new site that tracks these changes, identified more than 800 terminated NIH grants and almost 1500 terminated NSF grants as of mid-May. 89 A *New York Times* analysis found that almost half the canceled NIH grants "addressed the health of sexual and gender minority groups." 90 In June, a federal judge ordered the NIH to restore many of the grants that it had canceled, ruling that the funding cuts were illegal and reflected "racial discrimination and discrimination against America's L.G.B.T.Q. community." 91

While some grants may be reinstated, future grant funding is at risk. The proposed budget for fiscal year 2026 would reduce NSF's funding by 57 percent. An OMB memo has proposed cutting 74 percent of NOAA's research funding and eliminating the Oceanic and Atmospheric Research Office. As reported in *The Hill*, this 2026 budget cut would "eliminate 'all funding' for climate, weather and ocean laboratories and cooperative institutes, as well as funding for regional climate data." These changes could endanger historical data as well as future data collections. The OBBBA has started the rollbacks by rescinding any unobligated funds from two allocations approved through the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA): \$200 million previously allocated to NOAA for climate forecasting and research, and more than \$30 million for data programs run by the Council on Environmental Quality.

Most immediately, staff reductions at the National Weather Service (NWS), together with cuts to research and reduced maintenance for Earth observation satellites, could reduce the quality of weather data and forecasts. ^{96, 97} In May, the *Washington Post* reported that NOAA was "scrambling" to correct understaffing from DOGE cuts before the hurricane season. ⁹⁸ Lower-quality weather data would be harmful to government and nongovernmental organizations, to millions of Americans at risk from extreme weather, and to American businesses that use weather data to manage inventory and supply chains. ⁹⁹ In July, Texas officials questioned whether cuts to NWS staff had weakened the warning system for the flash floods that killed dozens of people in the state. ¹⁰⁰

Disbanding Advisory Committees

Major federal data programs have relied on expert councils and committees, including those that operate under the Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA). In his first day in office, President Trump reinstated a first-term Executive Order directing agencies to terminate at least one-third of their FACA committees. ¹⁰¹ By April, agency heads had eliminated many committees

chartered to ensure standards for scientific research and data collection and publication. ¹⁰² These have included committees at the U.S. Departments of Agriculture and Interior, the U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Economic Analysis and Federal Economic Statistics Advisory Committee, and three advisory committees to the U.S. Census. ^{103, 104} The General Services Administration (GSA) also terminated the Open Government Federal Advisory Committee, whose role included promoting open data in the interest of open and transparent government. ¹⁰⁵

There's no principle that says that FACA committees should continue indefinitely, and sunsetting some committees may be appropriate. Commerce Secretary Howard Lutnick terminated the Census advisory committees with the rationale that the committees' purpose "had been fulfilled." ¹⁰⁶

However, dozens of organizations have disagreed strongly with that assessment. In a letter to Secretary Lutnick sent by the Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights, these organizations argued that "The elimination of these committees . . . threatens the ability of the Census Bureau to serve communities that have historically been undercounted in the census and under-represented in other surveys. ¹⁰⁷ . . . It also disregards the decades of nonpartisan precedent through which civil rights and community-based organizations have worked in partnership with the federal government to ensure a fair and accurate census and comprehensive demographic and economic data collection activities."

Some other changes to federal advisory committees also mirror the administration's anti-DEI efforts. Early on, for example, the EPA disbanded a committee on environmental justice. ^{108, 109} In another instance, an analysis of NIH scientific councils showed that 43 advisors had been let go as of mid-April, and that 38 of those were female, Black, or Latino. ¹¹⁰

In the absence of formal advisory committees, agencies may be subject to more public criticism of their work, whether well-founded or not. Project 2025, the conservative policy blueprint published before the 2024 election, noted that "EPA currently operates 21 federal advisory committees [that] often play an outsized role in determining agency scientific and regulatory policy," and proposed as a remedy that EPA should "deputize the public to subject the agency's science to greater scrutiny, especially in areas of data analysis, identification of scientific flaws, and research misconduct." ¹¹¹ Replacing expert committees with public opinion - and incentivizing individuals to find flaws with the science, as Project 2025 suggested - could have a chilling effect on scientists who are afraid of politically motivated attacks.

While the government has not yet adopted this Project 2025 recommendation, an Executive Order (EO) on "Restoring Gold-Standard Science" has raised alarms across the scientific community. The EO states that research used in policymaking must meet a range of quality standards, including reproducibility and transparency, peer review, and freedom from conflicts of interest. However, as the Center for Open Science and others have pointed out, the EO gives federal agency heads the responsibility to determine whether these "gold-standard" principles are

being followed.^{112, 113} The *New York Times* wrote that the order thus puts "political appointees in charge of vetting scientific research and gives them the authority to 'correct scientific information,' control the way it is communicated to the public and the power to 'discipline' anyone who violates the way the administration views science." ¹¹⁴ The potential for political censorship or data manipulation is especially great when advisory committees are no longer there to provide a counterbalance.

Loss of Disaggregated Data

Disaggregated data - data that is broken down by race and ethnicity, gender identity, sexual orientation, disability, or other factors - is essential for understanding how different groups are impacted by different issues. ¹¹⁵ For example, such data can be analyzed to understand racial disparities in health care, the risk of bullying faced by gay high school students, or environmental justice issues affecting Latino communities. As part of his administration's commitment to racial equity, President Biden established an Equitable Data Working Group on standards for disaggregated data and implemented changes to data collections. ¹¹⁶

Conservative strategists have recommended rolling back these changes. Project 2025 recommended that the incoming administration "thoroughly review" proposed changes to race and ethnicity questions on the 2030 U.S. decennial Census. ¹¹⁷ A Cato Institute blog post went further: It recommended that the federal government should cease collecting data by race and ethnicity unless legally required to do so, and that "the administration and Congress should work together to remove all statutory requirements for the collection of race and ethnicity data that exist in federal law." ¹¹⁸

While recommendations like these may or may not be implemented, organizations that support disaggregated data are on alert. The Leadership Conference Education Fund, the Urban Institute, and the Annie E. Casey Foundation held a joint roundtable on protecting race and ethnicity data in March 2025. 119, 120, 121 A major concern has been the implementation of recent OMB revisions to Statistical Policy Directive 15 (SPD 15), released in March 2024, that provide for more precise collection of race and ethnicity data across government. 122 In one recent article, health policy researchers noted that the Trump administration may not require federal agencies to meet the September 2025 deadline for SPD 15 implementation plans. They also note that supporting reports and materials from SPD 15 working groups had been taken down from the Web.

At this writing, the administration has not rescinded the SPD 15 revisions. The Acting Director of the U.S. Census Bureau has stated that the Bureau is "still moving forward" with plans to make changes to update 2030 Census survey questions accordingly. Still, advocacy organizations continue to be concerned that government data collections could lose information on race and ethnicity. The Office of Personnel Management (OPM), for example, has eliminated public

information on the race and ethnicity of federal employees and announced that it will stop collecting such data going forward. 123, 124

So far, there have been more changes to data on sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI) than on race and ethnicity. By early February, the *Washington Post* reported that SOGI data had been removed from the Census Bureau's National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS) and Household Pulse survey, and the AP noted that the Bureau of Prisons no longer posted statistics on the number of trans inmates. ^{125, 126} A group of almost a hundred advocacy organizations has protested the changes to NCVS data on the basis that SOGI data is required under the Hate Crimes Statistics Act (HCSA). ¹²⁷ In March, NPR reported that the CDC, National Park Service, State Department, and Social Security Administration had also removed references to transgender people. ¹²⁸ A UCLA analysis has stressed the importance of maintaining data on the LGBTQ population in a wide variety of federal surveys - on topics including health, nutrition, housing, and criminal justice - and described the impact of losing that data in the future. ¹²⁹

Loss of Access to Restricted Data

Many important data sources are not open to the public but are widely used by qualified researchers and others who are granted special access. Some of these data sources are also at risk. For example, an April report covering the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) found that nearly two dozen data repositories, on topics including COVID, HIV, and Alzheimer's disease, were "under review." ¹³⁰ These databases cannot be downloaded and archived since they can only be accessed under individual data use agreements (DUAs). In another example, the National Law Enforcement Accountability Database (NLEAD), which federal officials could access to monitor law enforcement misconduct, has been decommissioned by the U.S. Department of Justice. ^{131, 132} An independent analysis found that most of the misconduct incidents in the database were committed by employees of the Bureau of Prisons (BOP) and U.S. Customs and Border Protection (CBP). ¹³³

Changes to Established Data Collection and Reporting

Standards for data collection, analysis, and publishing should be expected to change over time: The 2024 revisions to SPD 15 are an example. However, some dramatic changes, particularly those that reverse well-established practices, can have a negative impact intentionally or unintentionally.

In March 2025, for example, Secretary of Commerce Howard Lutnick floated the idea of changing how the U.S. government reports on the Gross Domestic Product (GDP). ¹³⁴ Secretary Lutnick suggested that GDP could be reported without the "G" - that government spending is not a good indicator of economic growth and should be dropped. Such a change would make it more

difficult to measure the impact of the administration's cuts to federal funding, programs, and staff. It would also make the U.S. an outlier by reporting GDP differently than other countries do, making international comparisons difficult if not impossible. And the change would make it very difficult to compare current and future U.S. GDP to historical measures and trends.

Another potentially major change, proposed in Project 2025, would be to add a question on citizenship to the decennial U.S. Census in 2030. This change was proposed for the 2020 Census but was blocked by the U.S. Supreme Court. However, the Court blocked the change on procedural grounds that could be remedied in the future. Adding a citizenship question would inevitably decrease response to the Census and would have an impact on redistricting and the disbursement of federal funds. A bill introduced in Congress in June would go even further: In addition to adding a citizenship question, it would require that Congressional apportionment be based only on the number of citizens in each state rather than on the total number of residents.

The Impacts of Data Loss

Civil society, academic, and research organizations have been quick to recognize the impact of these widespread changes to the nation's data. In the interest of the public good, they have run data rescue operations, brought lawsuits to restore data sources, and advocated to keep America's data intact.

While these organizations may be the first to be impacted by the loss of federal data, however, they will hardly be the last. Business and trade associations are beginning to realize the potential impact of federal data losses. They can be powerful voices - more so, perhaps, than civil society and the research community - in advocating for a strong data ecosystem as a critical business resource.

Some organizations are now collecting use cases that show the value of federal data. The Data Foundation has set up the MyDataStory website to encourage the public to share examples of important data uses, and Demographic Analytics Advisors has launched a website, America's Essential Data, to collect and present use cases as well. ^{139, 140, 141} In addition, the Data Disaggregation Action Network is collecting data stories at We Are the Data on the importance of race and ethnicity data from a community perspective. ^{142, 143}

An unprecedented loss of federal data could deal a blow to American businesses. The first Trump Administration promoted the business value of open government data. In 2017 and 2018, CODE collaborated with OMB to hold two Roundtables, one on Open Data for Economic Growth and one on Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset. The convenings and the reports they produced underscored that administration's commitment to making federal data a valuable resource for American businesses large and small. In the years since, the business value of U.S. open data has become even more clear. Below are some of the industries and businesses that stand to suffer from current and proposed changes to federal data.

How Businesses Use Government Data

- The financial sector relies on consistent, accurate economic data for its analysis, projections, and trillions of dollars in investment decisions.
- *Consumer and retail businesses* use weather data for supply chain management, demographic data for marketing, and other federal data specific to their business goals.
- The healthcare industry needs a wide range of data on disease risks and trends, treatment effectiveness, and the social determinants of health.
- *The housing industry* relies on demographic, education, financial, and other data for development plans, real estate, and business projections.
- Farmers and agribusiness need accurate climate data, weather data, and data on soil quality.
- *Marine industries* (such as fisheries and seaports), which account for almost three trillion dollars of the U.S. economy, rely on NOAA data that is now at risk.
- *Insurance and reinsurance companies* need accurate, extensive climate data for risk assessment and projections.
- Geospatial data companies rely on massive amounts of Earth observation data to create their products and services.
- Tech companies developing AI applications require large, accurate public datasets to train their models.

Strategies for Today: A Portfolio of Approaches

What should the nation's data providers, data users, and data advocates do about the threats to U.S. data resources?

First, they will need to assess the state of federal data as the situation develops. It's still impossible to tell how far the government's changes to the data ecosystem will go. The Federal Data Strategy, developed during President Trump's first term, is still in effect; the Evidence Act, signed by President Trump, is the law; and OMB's January 2025 guidance on implementing the Evidence Act has not been rescinded. Several websites and datasets that were taken down at the start of 2025 have since been restored. Some of the more drastic proposals now on the table, including major cuts to data-gathering agencies, may not come to pass.

That said, significant changes to the nation's data ecosystem have already been made, more are likely to come, and some, at least, will be difficult to reverse. Equally important, the current level of disruption shows just how vulnerable our data infrastructure is. While no one can yet predict

the future of American data, data experts, advocates, and policymakers can take action now to strengthen our data resources for the years ahead.

The following strategies are now being developed and tested by data policy experts, technologists, civil society organizations, public interest groups, and others with an interest in federal data. This collection is meant as a resource to be discussed, developed, and drawn on collaboratively to meet the changing needs of the times.

Philanthropic Support

Civil society organizations have been in the vanguard of efforts to monitor changes to the data ecosystem, advocate for data programs, and rescue federal datasets. They will need to continue this effort over the next several years, and will need increasing philanthropic support.

Many foundations rely on federal data for their programs on health, equity, climate action, democratic governance, housing, education, and other issues. They have an opportunity to support nonprofits that are defending these data sources. Some efforts are now under way to develop a funders' collaborative for data preservation. It's also possible that philanthropies may be able to take over some data collections now done by the federal government, although they cannot be expected to replicate huge federal datasets.

Foundational Work: Monitoring, Analysis, and Data Rescue

Several organizations have developed projects and tools to identify datasets at risk, so that members of the data rescue movement can archive them safely. For example, the American Statistical Association (ASA) is tracking changes that impact the country's statistical agencies and providing regular updates.¹⁴⁷ Through its secure SAFE-Track program, the Data Foundation is inviting the public to flag websites and datasets that have disappeared or are threatened.¹⁴⁸

Another project, dataindex.us, is using federal sources to track changes to government data collections. The company Demographic Analytics Advisors (DAA), which is working with others on dataindex.us, has developed a monitoring system to detect URLs that have become inactive and determine whether websites have been changed if they are reposted. DAA is also analyzing the authorizing language for at-risk data collections to determine whether there are legal safeguards protecting them.

In addition to these new efforts, data rescuers are continuing to rely on archival systems that have been in place for years. The Internet Archive now claims to have more than 946 billion web pages archived and available through its Wayback Machine. The End of Term Archive, established to maintain continuity between presidential administrations, makes websites from earlier administrations easily available. These and other efforts to monitor, track, and assess

changes online will continue to be a foundation for preserving the nation's data.

Coalitions for Advocacy

A range of civil society organizations and interest groups are advocating to preserve data and research funding. Scientific and medical advocacy groups like the Coalition for National Science Funding (CNSF) may have a good chance of success.¹⁵⁴ These groups have high professional credibility; there is historical bipartisan support for scientific and medical research; and federal research grants go to red as well as blue states. Some early cuts to medical research were quickly restored after challenges from public health groups: In April, the NIH reversed a plan to defund the long-running Women's Health Initiative and restored a small number of canceled grants.^{155, 156}

On the corporate side, business groups that rely on government data can advocate for the data they need. These range from the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, to trade associations, to small groups of companies with common interests. Professional groups representing doctors and farmers have sued the administration to restore data, as described below; other, similar groups might try an advocacy approach.

Advocates can also tap the expertise of former federal data experts and former members of FACA committees. In some cases, they may want to assemble "shadow advisory committees" that can continue to monitor the state of federal data and raise concerns from outside of government. The Union of Concerned Scientists has published a toolkit for doing this. 157, 158

Opportunities for Government Engagement

Once data advocates develop their case, whom should they present it to? Despite our polarized political environment, traditional government advocacy may be the best place to start.

Executive Office and Federal Agencies

The Office of Management and Budget has broad authority over federal data and could choose to protect key federal data sources. OMB also has an interest in ensuring that federal agencies follow legally established processes for making changes to data collections, and thus avoid court challenges. These include processes established by the Evidence Act and earlier legislation.

The White House Office of Science and Technology Policy (OSTP) may be receptive to arguments for scientific data collections. OSTP has a strong commitment to AI development, which requires large, high-quality datasets. Preserving large-scale government data collections, like Earth observation data, would help meet their AI goals.

More broadly, data advocates can identify Trump Administration actions and proposals that have potential bipartisan support, and advocate for a path forward that will lead to a positive outcome. Here are a few examples.

- Breaking down federal/state information silos. There are potential benefits and risks in a March 2025 Executive Order on "eliminating information silos" by expanding government data-sharing.¹⁶⁰ Among other directives, the Executive Order requires federal agency heads to "ensure the Federal Government has unfettered access to comprehensive data from all State programs." This order could lead to federal pressure on states to change the ways they collect their data. Optimally, however, it could provide greater state and federal coordination on data collection and analysis.
- Synthesizing data on individuals from different sources. That same Executive Order calls for the "consolidation" of records across the federal government. In principle, there is a strong logic to linking records on individual Americans from different government databases. Individual records have been notoriously difficult to manage across government agencies, which can make it hard to provide federal services efficiently. For example, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has historically had difficulty linking Veterans' records to their records of military service from the Department of Defense and to their Medicare and Medicaid data. 161

Despite this EO's potential advantages, organizations including the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) have opposed it, claiming that the EO unduly limits the protections of the Privacy Act of 1974. 162, 163, 164 DOGE's access to personal data across agencies has also triggered opposition including several lawsuits. 165 However, a careful, nonpartisan approach to linking individual records, implemented with transparency, effective privacy protection, and meaningful oversight, could make government records more useful and ultimately improve data-driven government services. The ACLU recommends developing data-linking programs on an individual project basis rather than through a centralized clearinghouse.

• Restructuring elements of the statistical system. The detailed version of the President's 2026 Budget includes a plan to consolidate the U.S. Census Bureau, the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA), and the Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) within the Department of Commerce. Several financial experts have raised concerns that this consolidation is being proposed with budget cuts that could reduce the bureaus' data quality. The cuts may have a particular impact on the BLS, resulting in less reliable data on inflation and other economic measures. 167, 168

If these bureaus maintain adequate budgets, however, consolidating them could have several advantages. This proposal has actually been discussed for years and has broad support. It could also open the door to a larger review and reform of federal statistical agencies, which many leaders in the statistical community would welcome if it is done

with care.¹⁷⁰ One group of leading federal statisticians has launched a new project, Modernizing the Federal Statistical System, to develop recommendations by the end of the year.¹⁷¹

• Reviewing and reducing data collections. In May DOGE raised concerns by fielding a "2025 Survey of Surveys" to federal agencies, in order to identify data collections that might no longer be needed. 172 Journalists pointed out that this survey could duplicate OMB's regular review of data collections, or could be an attempt to bypass OMB's process. However, there could be benefits to a thorough, rigorous, and unbiased review of government data collections, some of which may no longer be necessary for the goals they were meant to achieve.

Engaging with Congress

The most important opportunity for government advocacy may be with members of Congress. Senators and Representatives have constituents in their states and districts who rely on federal data for their livelihoods, for distribution of federal funds, or in other ways. As advocates collect compelling use cases for federal data, they may find ways that data programs benefit specific Congressional districts.

The time is right for a new bipartisan effort for legislation to ensure accurate, timely, reliable, and usable federal data in policy and decision making. In May Republican Congressman William Timmons (R-SC) led a bipartisan group in a resolution to convene a new Commission on Evidence-Based Policymaking like the one that originally shaped the Evidence Act. This bipartisan commission, he said, "will strengthen our ability to use data, evidence, and real-world outcomes to shape policy that works."

The current situation has shown the vulnerabilities in the nation's data infrastructure. The U.S. needs stronger protections for our valuable data, just as we have protections for our natural resources, public lands, and physical infrastructure. With support from civil society organizations and a new Commission on Evidence-Based Policymaking, Congress could:

- Identify, enforce, and strengthen existing laws that prohibit changes to major data collections without Congressional approval
- Write more precise specifications for the most important, highest-priority datasets
- Amend the Evidence Act to strengthen the protections it provides drawing on the same kind of bipartisan collaboration that created the Evidence Act itself
- Update national archiving requirements for the digital age
- Create clear guidelines for making government data AI-ready

- Pass a resolution or legislation recognizing the need to maintain accurate, scientific public data
- Take other measures to protect national data resources

Scientific and medical advocacy groups can also pressure Congressional Representatives to restore lost research funding. Red as well as blue states are home to research institutions that depend on federal support. The Impact Map, which shows the local impacts of federal policy changes, can pinpoint research cutbacks and give advocates a tool to make the case for funding.¹⁷⁴

The OBBBA, now passed by Congress and signed by President Trump, includes some programs that actually bolster the case for more scientific research data. The act provides \$150 million for the Department of Energy to structure scientific data for AI and machine learning models. It also calls for the creation of an "American science cloud" defined as "a system of United States government, academic, and private sector programs and infrastructures utilizing cloud computing technologies to facilitate and support scientific research, data sharing, and computational analysis across various disciplines. . . . " ¹⁷⁵ This innovative development could potentially be expanded, making the case for maintaining funding for NSF, NIH, NOAA, and the other government agencies that provide critical scientific data for analysis.

Public Engagement

Open data advocates should hold federal agencies accountable for engaging with the public. OMB's guidance on implementing the Evidence Act states that agencies must "consider whether the public has provided feedback about the value of the public data asset. For example, uses that are in the public interest may include news reporting, policy development, and research in the physical sciences, social sciences, humanities, or another field." The memo requires each agency to establish "processes and procedures . . . to facilitate collaboration with stakeholders outside the Federal Government . . . for the purpose of understanding how data users value and use government data." Since 2015, CODE has run a program of Open Data Roundtables with the White House and federal agencies for exactly this purpose.)

This public input is critical both for accountability and for practical reasons: A government with more than 300,000 open datasets can't pay equal attention to all of them. Agencies need meaningful stakeholder engagement to identify the highest-priority data collections and learn more about how they are used. This includes input and feedback from businesses, nonprofit organizations, researchers and academics, journalists, community-based organizations, state and local governments, and a wide range of other data users.

Legal Strategies

A number of organizations have taken legal action to restore critical data and websites. The digital law and policy journal Just Security is tracking these cases, along with other legal challenges to the current administration, and many cases have been covered in national news media. Several lines of legal argument are starting to emerge.

Mandates for Specific Data Collections

The vast majority of data collections are not required by specific Congressional mandates.¹⁸² Some laws dictate that an agency "shall" collect and publish data in a certain way. But usually the Congressional language describes what an agency "may" do to meet the goals of the authorizing legislation, giving agencies much more leeway.

Under OMB's guidance, federal agencies are likely to leave the small number of Congressionally required data collections alone and focus on changing the rest. In some cases, though, the government may step over a legal line, and public interest organizations can take action in those cases. In March, OMB stopped publishing data on its "apportionment" of federal funds, which show the office's budget decisions about agency expenditures. The nonprofit Public Citizen and Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (CREW) sued. ¹⁸³ The organizations noted that OMB is legally required to make apportionment data public and has done so since 2022.

Lawsuits from the States

State Attorneys General are a line of defense for preserving federal research and data collections. In April, a coalition of 16 states sued the NIH to challenge the termination of NIH grants. ¹⁸⁴ (The June court order to restore NIH grants was based on a similar lawsuit from the American Public Health Association.) ¹⁸⁵ Other coalitions of Attorneys General have sued to reverse cuts to HHS and to the Department of Education. ^{186, 187} If successful, these lawsuits would help reinstate the agencies' data collections as well as their other functions.

Data Requirements for Defunded Agencies

What happens when the government eliminates the agency responsible for data or a report required by Congress? Can the courts require the government to reinstate the agency, direct another government entity to produce the same work product, or just allow Congressional requirements to go unmet?

This question is now being tested in court. Two educational research organizations, the National Academy of Education (NAEd) and the National Council on Measurement in Education (NCME), are suing to reinstate the work of the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)

and the Institute of Education Sciences (IES). ¹⁸⁸ The lawsuit claims that defunding these Department of Education agencies "violate[s] the Department's legal obligations and [has] undermined researchers' and state and local governments' efforts to track and advance equal access to education nationwide." This case could be relevant to other defunded government agencies that produce Congressionally mandated data and reports, such as the reports on climate change, health, and poverty described earlier in this paper.

The First Amendment Argument

Much of the nation's scientific and medical data is not directly collected by government agencies, but is developed under federal research grants and then published on federal websites. Some lawyers are now arguing that researchers have a First Amendment right to prevent those websites from taking down their research. The ACLU is suing the HHS Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) on this basis. ¹⁸⁹ The ACLU is representing Harvard medical researchers whose study, which included information on LGBTQ individuals, was removed from the AHRQ website. If the court finds that the Harvard researchers have a right to continued publication on this HHS website, research could reappear on other websites as well.

Leveraging the Evidence Act and the PRA

The Evidence Act and the OMB directive on its implementation can be invoked to protect public data sources. The Act requires that federal agencies make their data "open by default," meaning that they have an obligation to publish it unless there are compelling reasons not to, such as privacy or national security. Lawyers could argue about whether or when an Executive Order can override the "open by default" presumption.

Arguably, the Evidence Act could even be applied where agencies have collected data but not yet analyzed it. HHS, for example, has collected data for the National Survey on Drug Use and Health, but the team responsible for analyzing the data has been laid off. Since HHS has the data in hand, could the department be required to release the data for others to analyze?

Through the Public Trust rule, the Evidence Act also underscores the independence of federal statistical agencies - a protection that is especially important to maintain, since DOGE has begun to interfere with statistical data programs. In May the Data Foundation published a statement from its president that the Foundation "is concerned about and monitoring the expanding scope of potential changes in the federal statistical system by the Department of Government Efficiency (DOGE)."

The statement noted that "DOGE publicly disclosed direct actions affecting initial data collections, and our review confirmed additional impacts across multiple statistical agencies with interagency agreements with the U.S. Census Bureau." ¹⁹¹ It went on to note that under the

Public Trust rule, changes to federal statistics "must be publicly disclosed, just as initial collections are disclosed under the Paperwork Reduction Act and other laws." ¹⁹² The Data Foundation called on OMB and Congress to review any changes to statistical data collections, enforce the Public Trust rule, and ensure public transparency about changes to statistical data or methodologies.

To ensure transparency, the Evidence Act requires federal agencies to publish data inventories that reflect any changes to their data programs.¹⁹³ OMB guidance requires agencies to update their data inventories no more than 90 days after the agency "creates or identifies a data asset" and at least once a year.¹⁹⁴ By the time the public sees changes in a data inventory, however, the change will have been made months before.

The PRA provides a more proactive tool for challenging changes to data before they are made. The 1995 revised PRA requires a process for changing federal information collections, including data programs, which OMB has spelled out in detail. Among other mandates, the PRA requires agencies to submit an Information Collection Request (ICR) to OMB whenever they plan to create, modify, or discontinue a data collection. They also need to submit an ICR to renew each data collection every three years, whether they have altered it or not. ICRs are published and serve as an early warning system for upcoming data changes.

The website dataindex.us is now tracking ICRs as part of its commitment to monitoring changes in federal datasets. The website describes its mission as "building tools to track a broad range of changes in federal datasets to build actionable insights for policymakers, advocates, journalists, and data users." Its ICR Tracker is a powerful tool for anyone concerned about U.S. data who wants to prevent changes to data collections before they occur. ¹⁹⁷

Demonstrating the Harm of Data Loss

Two successful lawsuits have argued that the government must protect public data that is essential to individuals' livelihood. This argument goes to the heart of the principle that open government data is a valuable public good.

The first lawsuit was brought by Public Citizen representing the physicians' group Doctors for America. The physicians sued HHS, the CDC, and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) over the agencies' decision to remove datasets and guidance on topics including HIV, contraception, and student health. The week after the lawsuit was brought, a federal judge issued a temporary injunction requiring the agencies to repost the online information. No other remedy, he wrote, "could ameliorate the inability to provide all required care during an appointment time to a patient who cannot return in the future." In July, the same judge gave a final ruling in the plaintiffs' favor. 199

In the second lawsuit, which EarthJustice brought on behalf of organic farmers, ²⁰⁰ the plaintiffs claimed that the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) had taken down climate data that they need to manage their crops. The data is relevant to climate-related risks including heat waves, droughts, flood, extreme weather, and wildfires, and information on strategies to deal with those risks. In mid-May, the USDA agreed to reinstate the missing data - which included pages on federal funding and loans, forest conservation, and rural clean energy projects - and to restore the maps in the U.S. Forest Service's Climate Risk Viewer. ^{201, 202}

Only a few cases so far have claimed that professional groups are directly harmed by disappearing data. But the argument could prove to be a powerful one. If the courts find that groups of professionals have standing to sue over data - and if they find that unpublishing federal data does them harm - it could open the way for legal challenges to all kinds of government data deletions. Beyond protecting existing data, the same argument could be used to ensure continued collections of important data sources.

Strategies for the Future: New Data Sources

As challenging as it is, the current situation is an opportunity not only to strengthen America's existing data but to develop new resources. New kinds of data could provide a backstop, a supplement, or even a replacement for some current federal data. Developing new data sources would give the nation a more robust, distributed data infrastructure. Here are a few options.

Administrative Data

Federal data stewards have been concerned for years about decreasing survey response. All kinds of government surveys, including the U.S. Census, are having a harder time reaching large numbers of Americans than they have in the past.

Part of the solution may be to use administrative data, which tracks government transactions and records such as pensions, taxation, and births and deaths.²⁰³ While administrative data is not a panacea - among other issues, it poses significant privacy challenges - it could provide new opportunities to learn about the American population.

Administrative data could become a new source of insight for states as well. A recent opinion piece from NORC at the University of Chicago noted that "states are sitting on a treasure trove of administrative data, including eligibility records, service usage patterns, benefit payments, program enrollments, and outcome measurements. These data represent an untapped source of evidence and insights that can help states make more effective program and policy decisions and better serve the needs of their residents."²⁰⁴

State and Local Data

Some national data collections, such as health and education statistics, rely on aggregating and analyzing data from all 50 states.²⁰⁵ While the federal government is the main data aggregator, academic, nonprofit, or other research organizations could create national datasets from subnational data in the same way.

The COVID pandemic gave us a successful proof of concept. At a time when the CDC was not providing trusted statistics on the pandemic, both the Center for Government Excellence at Johns Hopkins University and the nonprofit USAFacts developed their own dashboards by aggregating data themselves.^{206, 207} These dashboards became go-to sources for timely, reliable COVID information.

State and local data could be particularly important sources relating to race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and gender identity if the federal government stops collecting disaggregated data. However, subnational data is not a perfect solution. States already vary in the data they collect and how they collect it, and they may diverge even more as politics impacts data programs. Republican lawmakers in more than 30 states are taking steps against DEI programs, and could potentially restrict the collection of race, ethnicity, or SOGI data as well.²⁰⁸

In addition, state data collections that rely on federal funding are at risk. In May, the U.S. Department of Labor terminated grants that had been given to states to modernize their unemployment insurance (UI) systems during the pandemic.²⁰⁹ As the former head of the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics pointed out, "State UI data are critical infrastructure for administering the UI program, evaluating federal and local policies, informing state and local economic development and workforce programs, creating federal statistics, and much more."²¹⁰

Data from Non-Government Sources

Commercial data could have tremendous public value, at least in theory. Large corporations collect data on their customers that could provide new insights if it is anonymized and analyzed appropriately. Other, smaller businesses collect data on real estate and land use, medical data, scientific data, and other kinds of data that could be applied for public good.

So far it's proven difficult to repurpose private data for public use. There are practical, ethical, and incentive issues in reusing data that was collected by private companies for proprietary purposes. However, some data and tech companies are experimenting with ways to use anonymized data in collaborative projects for new public insights. A notable recent example is the use of Meta's data to map global migration, a project conducted with the University of Hong Kong and Harvard University and published in the *New York Times*.²¹¹

At the same time, nonprofit organizations are finding ways to develop new data and tools - including Earth observation data, which depended entirely on large-scale government investment until fairly recently. For example, the nonprofit Earth Genome uses AI and Earth data (including government data) to publish Earth Index, a "search tool for the environment;" Climate TRACE, which provides independent greenhouse gas emissions tracking; and several other data resources and tools. ^{212, 213}

Data advocates have cautioned that independent programs should not be expected to replace what the federal government can do.²¹⁴ The National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA), NOAA, and other major scientific agencies have resources that can't be matched outside of government. The American Community Survey, conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau, may also be irreplaceable: It is widely used by businesses, researchers, and as input to other data products, and advocates are working to protect it.^{215, 216} But independent data initiatives can supplement government data collections, provide new, valuable tools, and serve as a stopgap when federal data programs are diminished, in the hope that they will be restored in the future.

Non-traditional Data Sources

Data experts have become increasingly interested in nontraditional data sources (NTDs) created with the help of AI. The GovLab at New York University recently categorized many of these NTDs, such as internet search data, mobile data, and social media data, and gave examples of their emerging use.²¹⁷ These data sources can be used for health, humanitarian aid and disaster response, climate and environment, urban systems, and economic and labor dynamics, among other applications.

Many organizations are crowdsourcing data, a well-established strategy for using large numbers of volunteers to gather data and share it publicly. (The Humanitarian OpenStreetMap Team is a well-known example.)²¹⁸ The Director of Academy Health has pointed to several health crowdsourcing projects, such as a flu-tracking project that fills gaps in CDC data and a global study of COVID systems.²¹⁹ She notes, however, that crowdsourcing health data "complements rather than replaces the essential role of government-collected data. Government data sources provide systematic, comprehensive, and standardized insights that are crucial for maintaining a complete, longitudinal understanding of national health needs and outcomes. . . . "

While NTDs may not replace government data, they still hold promise. The next steps are to improve methodologies, determine who should control these data sources and in what ways, and determine how best to make different NTDs useful as public goods.

Conclusion: Towards a Roadmap for Action

The U.S. national data ecosystem, which has developed over more than two centuries, is being disrupted in unprecedented ways. The businesses, advocates, researchers, and others who rely on that system have an opportunity to preserve it and strengthen it for the future. Below is a proposed first draft of a Roadmap for Action. We at CODE hope this will be a starting point for discussion, collaboration, and the work ahead.

Work with Government

- Engage with the Executive Branch on positive reforms. Some of the administration's actions and proposals could improve data systems with bipartisan support. They provide an opportunity to improve statistical systems, make data systems more interoperable, discontinue data collections that are no longer needed, and make government data more AI-ready. Data advocates can engage with government to support these changes and advise on their implementation. They should insist on adherence to established statutes, processes, and privacy and data security protections in any changes to federal data systems.
- Work with members of Congress and promote new legislation. Senators and representatives have constituents who depend on federal data, and have a responsibility to protect data programs that have been authorized by Congress. Data advocates should identify use cases that show the value of specific datasets in specific states and districts, and lobby to preserve the data on that basis. More broadly, advocates can promote new legislation to strengthen the Evidence Act, tighten requirements for key data collections, and protect and improve the nation's data in other ways. The bipartisan proposal for a new Commission on Evidence-Based Policymaking is an ideal opportunity for Congressional engagement.
- Align with the administration's AI goals. The White House and OSTP have made a major commitment to AI development, which depends on large and accurate data sources. At the same time, the U.S. Department of Commerce is leading an effort to make government data more AI-ready. 220 Government data advocates can help identify the data sources that will be most valuable for AI development and work with OSTP and federal agencies to preserve and improve them.
- *Build cross-state data collaborations*. State data is already a major source for national data resources, and can be aggregated and analyzed in even more effective ways. By collaborating on data collection strategies and standards, state governments can improve their own data and make it easier to use for the common good.

Take Collaborative Action

- Continue data rescue efforts. It's hard to know whether and how the administration and federal agencies will continue to delete important datasets. The organizations that are tracking changes to federal data, archiving datasets, and making the data available will need to continue their work for the foreseeable future.
- *Activate philanthropy*. Foundations have an opportunity to help preserve the data that is essential to their missions. They can fund data rescue efforts, support organizations that advocate for data programs, and fund research to produce new, non-federal data sources.
- *Foster nonprofit collaborations*. Several organizations are monitoring changes to federal data, archiving datasets, collecting data use cases, and advocating for essential data sources. By collaborating, they can increase their collective impact.
- *Prioritize the most valuable data*. All federal data is not equally important. Some datasets are flawed, outmoded, or unnecessary, and deserve to be sunsetted or reinvented. Others, however, are core to the nation's interests. Data providers and users should collaborate to prioritize the datasets that are most important to their sectors and then collaborate to save them.
- Engage with the public. Federal data ultimately serves the public, and the public needs to have a say in its future. Federal agencies should follow the OMB directive to assess public data needs, which goes well beyond simply publishing a notice for comment in the Federal Register. Data advocates can also convene independent public discussions on federal data, like the new Federal Data Forum.²²¹ CODE's decade-long program of Open Data Roundtables is designed for public engagement and can serve as a model for action.

Pursue Advocacy

- Make the case for robust public data. Data advocates need to develop clear messages
 about the value of federal data, the risks of wholesale data deletions, and the importance
 of clear and consistent processes for evolving data programs over time. Assembling
 compelling use cases for open federal data, as several organizations are doing now, is a
 valuable first step.
- Form alliances for advocacy. State and local governments, civil society organizations, and American businesses have a common interest in preserving the nation's data resources. By working as allies, they can create a compelling platform to advocate for federal data programs.

- *Promote disaggregated data*. Data on race, ethnicity, sexual orientation, and gender identity are essential to understanding the American public. Data on Americans with disabilities is also critical, and is also now at risk.²²³ Disaggregated data can help inform government policymaking, the development of government programs, and even business planning and strategy. Advocacy efforts should continue to focus on preserving this disaggregated data.
- Leverage legal protections. Congressional mandates, the PRA, the Evidence Act, and other federal laws provide legal protections for federal data collections and require transparent processes for changing them. Advocates can leverage the law in their engagement with government officials and through litigation if necessary. They can also learn from the legal cases that claim certain data is essential to the livelihood of professional groups such as physicians and farmers. That argument goes to the heart of open data's purpose the application of government data for public good and could be made for virtually any major federal data source.

Develop New Data Sources

- Leverage administrative data. Data scientists have been exploring the use of administrative data to augment or replace survey-based data. Now is the time to ramp up those efforts and leverage administrative data at a federal, state, and local level.
- Explore non-traditional data sources. AI has opened new opportunities to convert mobile, social media, and other kinds of data into structured data sources for analysis. These non-traditional data sources, together with well-tested crowdsourcing methods, can be put to use nationally.

In her book *Recoding America*, tech entrepreneur Jennifer Pahlka documented how outdated software, IT systems, and policies have hobbled government and failed the people that government serves. ²²⁴ The same could be said about America's data resources. Along with invaluable demographic, economic, and scientific data, we have data that is inaccurate, outdated, unreliable, and otherwise unsuited for modern use. The current disruption of federal data provides an opportunity to re-evaluate our data resources and find ways to improve them.

We need to recognize the critical importance of America's data infrastructure and acknowledge that it needs to improve precisely because it is essential. Ill-considered program cuts, manipulations of data analysis, and politically-driven changes to longstanding methodology won't serve the country well. But an approach that identifies, preserves, and builds on our most valuable data - while taking a fresh look at data that needs to be dramatically improved or simply cut - will give the country what we need for truly data-driven policies and programs.

Acknowledgments

The author thanks many colleagues who contributed to this paper by sharing their insights and research and providing expert review: Temilola Afolabi, Meeta Anand, Gary Bass, Daniel Chenok, Richard Coffin, Christopher Dick, Cameron Hickey, Alex Howard, Brenna Isman, Paul Kuhne, Meghan Maury-Fox, Amy O'Hara, Steve Pierson, Denice Ross, Matt Rumsey, and Alan Shark. This report was designed by Vandana Yadav.

About CODE



The Center for Open Data Enterprise (CODE) is an independent 501(c)3 code in Washington, D.C. CODE's mission is to harness the power of open and shared data for the public good, by working with

government agencies, businesses, nonprofits, and researchers who are both data providers and data users. Since it was founded in January 2015, CODE has held numerous Open Data Roundtables with the White House, a dozen different federal agencies, and independent partners in the U.S.; has published a wide range of research papers and online tools; and has implemented several international projects. In addition to working with government agencies and officials, CODE partners with private-sector companies, foundations, and other nonprofit organizations to fulfill its mission. More information is available at CODE's website, www.odenterprise.org.

About the Author



Joel Gurin is the President and Founder of CODE. He is an internationally recognized expert on open data with a background in government, journalism, and nonprofit leadership. His book Open Data Now (McGraw-Hill), written for a general audience, is considered a benchmark publication that helped define this emerging field. Before launching CODE in January 2015 he conceptualized and led the development team for the NYU GovLab's Open Data 500 project, the first thorough study of the use of open government data by the private sector. He served as Chair of the White House Task Force on

Smart Disclosure, which studied how open government data can improve consumer markets, and as Chief of the Consumer and Governmental Affairs Bureau of the U.S. Federal Communications Commission. For more than a decade he was Editorial Director and then Executive Vice President of Consumer Reports, where he directed the launch and development of ConsumerReports.org, which was then the world's largest paid-subscription information-based website. He is a graduate of Harvard University with an A.B. in Biochemical Sciences, Magna Cum Laude, Phi Beta Kappa. In 2023 he was selected as one of the FCW Federal 100, and he is an elected Fellow of the National Academy for Public Administration. He can be reached at joel@odenterprise.org.

Acronym List

ACLU American Civil Liberties Union

AHRQ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

AI Artificial Intelligence

APA Administrative Procedure Act

ASA American Statistical Association

BEA Bureau of Economic Analysis

BLS Bureau of Labor Statistics

BOP Bureau of Prisons

CBP U.S. Customs and Border Protection

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

CDO Chief Data Officer

CEJST Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool

CFPB Consumer Financial Protection Bureau

CNSF Coalition for National Science Funding

CODE Center for Open Data Enterprise

CREW Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington

DAA Demographic Analytics Advisors

DATA Act Digital Accountability and Transparency Act

DEI Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

DHS Demographic and Health Surveys

DOGE Department of Government Efficiency

DUA Data Use Agreement

EO Executive Order

EPA Environmental Protection Agency

FACA Federal Advisory Committee Act

FDA U.S. Food and Drug Administration

FEMA Federal Emergency Management Agency

FOIA Freedom of Information Act

GDP Gross Domestic Product

GSA General Services Administration

HCSA Hate Crimes Statistics Act

HHS U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

HMDA Home Mortgage Disclosure Act

ICE Immigration and Customs Enforcement

ICR Information Collection Request

IES Institute of Education Sciences

IRA Inflation Reduction Act

IRS Internal Revenue Service

LGBTQ Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or queer

NAEd National Academy of Education

NAEP National Assessment of Educational Progress

NAPA National Academy of Public Administration

NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration

NCES National Center for Education Statistics

NCME National Council on Measurement in Education

NCVS National Crime Victimization Survey

NGO Non-governmental organization

NIH National Institutes of Health

NLEAD National Law Enforcement Accountability Database

NOAA National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration

NSF National Science Foundation

NTD Nontraditional data

NWS National Weather Service

OBBBA One Big Beautiful Bill Act

OMB Office of Management and Budget

OPM Office of Personnel Management

OSTP Office of Science and Technology Policy

PRA Paperwork Reduction Act

SAFE-Track Secure Anonymous Federal Evidence, Data and Analysis Tracking

SOGI Sexual orientation and gender identity

SPD Statistical Policy Directive

UI Unemployment Insurance

USDA U.S. Department of Agriculture

USGCRP U.S. Global Change Research Program

VA U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs

Creative Commons



This paper is published under a Creative Commons Attribution-Sharealike 4.0 International license. CODE requests that anyone using this material alert us as a courtesy by writing to CODE's President, Joel Gurin, at joel@odenterprise.org.

References

- ³ "What is Open Data?" Open Data Handbook. https://opendatahandbook.org/guide/en/what-is-open-data/.
- ⁴ Silverman, Ellie. "Trump Administration Cuts National Database Tracking Domestic Terrorism." *The Washington Post.* March 25, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2025/03/25/domestic-extremism-database-trump-cuts/.
- ⁵ MacGillis, Alec. "Trump's War on Measurement Means Losing Data on Drug Use, Maternal Mortality, Climate Change and More." *ProPublica*. April 18, 2025. https://www.propublica.org/article/trump-doge-data-collection-hhs-epa-cdc-maternal-mortality.
- ⁶ Natanson, Hannah, Adam Taylor, Meryl Kornfield, Rachel Siegel, and Scott Dance. "Trump Administration Races to Fix a Big Mistake: DOGE Fired Too Many People." *The Washington Post.* June 6, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2025/06/06/doge-staff-cuts-rehiring-federal-workers/.
- ⁷ National Center for Education Statistics. "National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Home Page, Part of the U.S. Department of Education." Ed.gov. National Center for Education Statistics. 2020. https://nces.ed.gov/.
- ⁸ Arrington, Rep. "Text H.R.1 119th Congress (2025-2026): One Big Beautiful Bill Act." Congress.gov. 2025. https://www.congress.gov/bill/119th-congress/house-bill/1/text.
- ⁹ Washington, D.. "EXECUTIVE OFFICE of the PRESIDENT OFFICE of MANAGEMENT and BUDGET." 2025 https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Fiscal-Year-2026-Discretionary-Budget-Request.pdf.
- ¹⁰ Hart, Nick. LinkedIn. 2025. https://www.linkedin.com/posts/nickrhart_the-detailed-version-of-the-presidents-fy-activity-7334331417109159938-0ADc/?rcm=ACoAAABMmfkBeLRcYh5pkOwQrbbEah3ut7YXtn4.
- ¹¹ Office of Management and Budget. "Technical Supplement to the 2026 Budget." *GovInfo*, 2025 https://www.linkedin.com/posts/nickrhart_the-detailed-version-of-the-presidents-fy-activity-7334331417109159938-0ADc/?rcm=ACoAAABMmfkBeLRcYh5pkOwQrbbEah3ut7YXtn4.
- ¹² Hart, Nick. "Data Infrastructure in OBBB: Reviewing Key Provisions." *Data Foundation*. July 3, 2025. https://datafoundation.org/news/blogs/638/638-Data-Infrastructure-in-OBBB-Reviewing-Key-Provisions.
- 13 The Center for Open Data Enterprise, https://www.opendataenterprise.org/.
- ¹⁴ Stanger, Allison. "DOGE Threat: How Government Data Would Give an AI Company Extraordinary Power." *The Conversation*. March 6, 2025. https://theconversation.com/doge-threat-how-government-data-would-give-an-ai-company-extraordinary-power-250907/.
- ¹⁵ Bhuiyan, Johana. "Trump Officials Create Searchable National Citizenship Database." *The Guardian*. June 30, 2025. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2025/jun/30/trump-citizenship-database.
- ¹⁶ Rose, Joel. "The IRS Finalizes a Deal to Share Tax Information with Immigration Authorities." *NPR*. April 8, 2025. https://www.npr.org/2025/04/08/g-s1-59056/irs-dhs-information-sharing-deal-immigrants-tax-records.
- ¹⁷ Wang, Hansi Lo. "How DOGE's Push to Amass Data Could Hurt the Reliability of Future U.S. Statistics." *WLRN*. June 4, 2025. https://www.wlrn.org/national-politics/2025-06-04/how-doges-push-to-amass-data-could-hurt-the-reliability-of-future-u-s-statistics.

¹ Data.gov. http://data.gov.

² America's Essential Data. https://essentialdata.us/.

- ¹⁸ Badiee, Shaida. Gurin, Joel. and Melamed, Claire. "America Is Erasing the Data the World Needs." *Project Syndicate*. May 5, 2025. https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/how-to-respond-to-us-attacks-on-the-creation-and-reliability-of-data-by-shaida-badiee-et-al-2025-05.
- ¹⁹ "Data360 about." World Bank Data360. 2025. https://data360.worldbank.org/en/about.
- ²⁰ "How Government Cuts Could Impact Your Right to Information." 2025. Federation of American Scientists. March 10, 2025. https://fas.org/publication/foia-opm-doge/.
- ²¹ Bureau, US Census. 2022. "1790 Census." *U.S. Census Bureau*. January 18, 2022. https://www.census.gov/library/photos/1790_census.html.
- ²² Wikipedia Contributors. 2019. "National Archives and Records Administration." *Wikipedia*. March 30, 2019. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/National_Archives_and_Records_Administration.
- ²³ "Administrative Procedure Act." *Wikipedia*. September 23, 2023. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Administrative_Procedure_Act.
- ²⁴ U.S. Department of Justice. "Privacy Act of 1974." *Office of Privacy and Civil Liberties Department of Justice.* October 4, 2022. https://www.justice.gov/opcl/privacy-act-1974.
- ²⁵ "Paperwork Reduction Act (PRA)." n.d. *Bureau of Justice Assistance*. https://bja.ojp.gov/program/it/privacy-civil-liberties/authorities/statutes/1289.
- ²⁶ U.S. Congress. Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995. Public Law 104–13. 104th Cong., May 22, 1995. In *United States Statutes at Large*, vol. 109, 163–185.
- ²⁷ "Agency Information Quality Guidelines." *The White House.* 2024. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/omb/inforeg_agency_info_quality_links.
- ²⁸ The White House. "Transparency and Open Government" Memorandum For The Heads Of Executive Departments And Agencies. *The White House*. January 21, 2009. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/transparency-and-open-government.
- ²⁹ Data.gov. https://data.gov/about/.
- ³⁰ "Executive Order -- Making Open and Machine Readable the New Default for Government Information." 2013. *Whitehouse.gov*. May 9, 2013. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2013/05/09/executive-order-making-open-and-machine-readable-new-default-government-.
- ³¹ Office of Management and Budget. "Open Data Policy—Managing Information as an Asset." Memorandum M-13-13. Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President, May 9, 2013. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/omb/memoranda/2013/m-13-13.pdf.
- ³² "Open Government Initiative." n.d. *The White House*. https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/open.
- ³³ U.S. Congress, "Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014," Public Law 113–101, 113th Cong., May 9, 2014, in United States Statutes at Large 128 (2014): 1146–1163, https://www.congress.gov/113/bills/s994/BILLS-113s994enr.pdf.
- ³⁴ "About the Data Transparency Program | TFX: Treasury Financial Experience." 2016. Treasury.gov. 2016. https://tfx.treasury.gov/data-transparency/about.
- ³⁵ U.S. Department of the Treasury. USAspending.gov.. https://www.usaspending.gov/.
- ³⁶ Ryan, Paul D. 2019. "H.R.4174 115th Congress (2017-2018): Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018." U.S. Congress. January 14, 2019. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/4174.

- ³⁷ Ryan, Paul D. 2019. "H.R.4174 115th Congress (2017-2018): Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018." *www.congress.gov*. January 14, 2019. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/4174.
- ³⁸ "2021 Action Plan Federal Data Strategy." n.d. *Strategy.data.gov*. https://strategy.data.gov/2021/action-plan/.
- ³⁹ "Background Federal Data Strategy." n.d. *Strategy.data.gov*. https://strategy.data.gov/background/.
- ⁴⁰ Office of Management and Budget, Phase 2 Implementation of the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018: Open Government Data Access and Management Guidance, Memorandum M-25-05 (Washington, DC: Executive Office of the President, January 15, 2025), https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/M-25-05-Phase-2-Implementation-of-the-Foundations-for-Evidence-Based-Policymaking-Act-of-2018-Open-Government-Data-Access-and-Management-Guidance.pdf.
- ⁴¹ "The OPEN Government Data Act." Congressional Research Service. December 29, 2022. https://www.congress.gov/crs_external_products/IF/PDF/IF12299/IF12299.4.pdf
- ⁴² The Data Foundation. https://datafoundation.org/.
- ⁴³ Hart, Nick. "Statement about Reported DOGE Activities Affecting Federal Statistics." Data Foundation. May 21, 2025. https://datafoundation.org/news/press-releases-and-statements/620/620-Statement-about-Reported-DOGE-Activities-Affecting-Federal-Statistics.
- ⁴⁴ April 29, 2025 Linkedin post by Nick Hart, Ph.D., President & CEO, Data Foundation
- ⁴⁵ "Fact Sheet: President Donald J. Trump Protects Civil Rights and Merit-Based Opportunity by Ending Illegal DEI." The White House. January 22, 2025. https://www.whitehouse.gov/fact-sheets/2025/01/fact-sheet-president-donald-j-trump-protects-civil-rights-and-merit-based-opportunity-by-ending-illegal-dei/.
- ⁴⁶ The White House. 2025. "Defending Women from Gender Ideology Extremism and Restoring Biological Truth to the Federal Government." The White House. January 20, 2025. https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/01/defending-women-from-gender-ideology-extremism-and-restoring-biological-truth-to-the-federal-government/.
- ⁴⁷ "Climate Backtracker | Sabin Center for Climate Change Law." 2019. Columbia.edu. 2019. https://climate.law.columbia.edu/content/climate-backtracker.
- ⁴⁸ Connelly, AJ. "Federal Government's Growing Banned Words List Is Chilling Act of Censorship." PEN America. April 28, 2025. https://pen.org/banned-words-list/?s=09
- ⁴⁹ "EJSCREEN: Environmental Justice Screening and Mapping Tool." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. September 3, 2014. https://19january2021snapshot.epa.gov/ejscreen_.html.
- ⁵⁰ Council on Environmental Quality, "Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool: Frequently Asked Questions," The White House [Archive] February 2022, https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/CEQ-CEJST-QandA.pdf.
- ⁵¹ "Public Environmental Data Partners." *Data + Screening Tools*. 2025. https://screening-tools.com/.
- ⁵² Library Innovation Lab. "Announcing the Data.gov Archive" 2025. *Harvard.edu*. February 6, 2025. https://lil.law.harvard.edu/blog/2025/02/06/announcing-data-gov-archive/.
- ⁵³ Data Rescue Project. February 12, 2025. https://www.datarescueproject.org/.
- ⁵⁴ Tollefson, Jeff.. "Major European Institutes Join Race to Save US Science Data." *Nature*, April. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-025-01309-3.

- ⁵⁵ Milman, Oliver, and Andrew Witherspoon. "Trump's 'Climate' Purge Deleted a New Extreme Weather Risk Tool. We Recreated It." *The Guardian*. March 26, 2025. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/ng-interactive/2025/mar/26/extreme-weather-risk-tool-fema-trump?.
- ⁵⁶ National Academy of Public Administration. https://napawash.org/.
- ⁵⁷ Technology Leadership Standing Panel. 2025. Review of *Ensuring the Future of Federal Data. National Academy of Public Administration*. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1-vC-dAu0P3nxIH8thXNK8LFAbaWvRvSA/view?usp=drive_link
- ⁵⁸ "Meet Dr. ALAN R. SHARK." Shark Tank. 2025. https://sharkbytes.net/.
- ⁵⁹ *Data.gov.* http://data.gov/.
- ⁶⁰ Rose, Joel. "The IRS Finalizes a Deal to Share Tax Information with Immigration Authorities." *NPR*. April 8, 2025. https://www.npr.org/2025/04/08/g-s1-59056/irs-dhs-information-sharing-deal-immigrants-tax-records.
- ⁶¹ Auerbach, Jonathan, Claire McKay Bowen, Constance Citro, Steve Pierson, Nancy Potok, and Zachary Seeskin. 2024. Review of "The Nation's Data at Risk Meeting America's Information Needs for the 21st Century." *American Statistical Association*. https://www.amstat.org/docs/default-source/amstat-documents/the-nation's-data-at-risk---report.pdf.
- ⁶² Auerbach, Jonathan, Claire McKay Bowen, Constance F. Citro, Steve Pierson, and Zachary H. Seeskin. "The Nation's Data at Risk: The First Annual Report on the Federal Statistical System." Harvard Data Science Review 7 (1). January 30, 2025. https://doi.org/10.1162/99608f92.ca01ab52.
- 63 Ibid
- ⁶⁴ "The Nation's Data at Risk, Year Two Ongoing Monitoring." *American Statistical Association.* 2025. https://www.amstat.org/the-nations-data-at-risk-year-two-ongoing-monitoring.
- ⁶⁵ Montague, Zach. Sullivan, Eileen. "Judge Temporarily Blocks Trump Plans for Mass Layoffs and Program Closures." *The New York Times*, May 10, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/05/09/us/politics/federal-layoffs-trump-ruling.html.
- ⁶⁶ "Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking | U.S. Department of Education." n.d. Www.ed.gov. https://www.ed.gov/data.
- ⁶⁷ Mangan, Katherine. "Breathtakingly Irresponsible': Former Workers Decry Decimation of Education Dept.'s Data Warehouse." 2025. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. March 24, 2025. https://archive.is/CYfNp.
- ⁶⁸ Raymond, Nate. "Judge Blocks Trump Administration Plan to Gut Education Department." *HuffPost*. May 22, 2025. https://www.huffpost.com/entry/trump-education-department_n_682f3bbce4b09130a58588b4.
- ⁶⁹ Mullin M, Christopher. "ED Contracts Planning to be Reinstated," *LinkedIn.* June 12, 2025. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/ed-contracts-planning-reinstated-christopher-m-mullin-tpxle/.
- ⁷⁰ Colman, Zack. "Trump Moves to Hobble Major US Climate Change Study." Politico. April 9, 2025. https://www.politico.com/news/2025/04/09/trump-moves-to-hobble-major-climate-study-00280405.
- ⁷¹ "Fact Sheet: HHS' Transformation to Make America Healthy Again." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. March 27, 2025. https://www.hhs.gov/press-room/hhs-restructuring-doge-fact-sheet.html.
- ⁷² Ollstein, Alice Miranda, and Gardner, Sophie.. "RFK Jr., DOGE Gutted Legally Required Offices. Courts May Undo It All." *Politico*. May 11, 2025. https://www.politico.com/news/2025/05/11/trump-transforms-congressionally-mandated-health-offices-into-ghost-towns-00340176.

- ⁷³ Allen, Arthur. "Trump HHS Eliminates Office That Sets Poverty Levels Tied to Benefits for at Least 80 Million People." 2025. *CNN*. April 17, 2025. https://www.cnn.com/2025/04/17/health/hhs-poverty-levels-benefits-kff-health-news/index.html.
- ⁷⁴ Data Foundation. https://datafoundation.org/.
- ⁷⁵ Data Foundation. "Data Foundation Releases Second 'Evidence Capacity Pulse Report." *Data Foundation*. April 30, 2025. https://datafoundation.org/news/press-releases/606/606-Data-Foundation-Releases-Second-Evidence-Capacity-Pulse-Report.
- ⁷⁶ Natanson, Hannah. Diamond, Dan. Siegel, Rachel. Bogage, Jacob. and Duncan, Ian. 2025. "Trump's Actions Are Pushing Thousands of Experts to Flee Government." *The Washington Post.* May 17, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2025/05/17/trump-administration-brain-drain-doge.
- ⁷⁷ Ackerman, Andrew. "Why Some Fear Government Data on the U.S. Economy Is Losing Integrity." *The Washington Post*. July 3, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2025/07/03/federal-reserve-economic-benchmarks-data-challenges/.
- ⁷⁸ Lerner, Sharon. "Trump's EPA Plans to Stop Collecting Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data from Most Polluters." *ProPublica*. April 10, 2025. https://www.propublica.org/article/trump-epa-greenhouse-gas-reporting-climate-crisis.
- ⁷⁹ Arrington, Rep. 2025. "Text H.R.1 119th Congress (2025-2026): One Big Beautiful Bill Act." Congress.gov. 2025. https://www.congress.gov/bill/119th-congress/house-bill/1/text. Page 209.
- ⁸⁰ Dzombak, Rebecca, and Hiroko Tabuchi. "U.S. Government to Stop Tracking the Costs of Extreme Weather." *The New York Times*, May 8, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/05/08/climate/noaa-billion-dollar-disasters.html.
- ⁸¹ Fiore, Kristina. "CDC's Population Health Office Is Gone." *MedpageToday.* April 8, 2025. https://www.medpagetoday.com/special-reports/exclusives/115021.
- ⁸² "The DHS Program Quality Information to Plan, Monitor and Improve Population, Health, and Nutrition Programs." *The DHS Program.* https://dhsprogram.com/.
- ⁸³ Nelson, Alondra. "MEMORANDUM for the HEADS of EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENTS and AGENCIES FROM." *Executive Office of the President.* August 25, 2022. https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/08-2022-OSTP-Public-Access-Memo.pdf.
- ⁸⁴ "2022 Updated OSTP Policy Guidance SPARC." SPARC. April 30, 2025. https://sparcopen.org/ourwork/2022-updated-ostp-policy-guidance/.
- ⁸⁵ Burdick, Alan. "Trump vs. Science." *The New York Times*, April 25, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/04/25/briefing/trump-vs-science.html.
- ⁸⁶ Ollstein, Alice Miranda, and Sophie Gardner. "RFK Jr., DOGE Gutted Legally Required Offices. Courts May Undo It All." *Politico*. May 11, 2025. https://www.politico.com/news/2025/05/11/trump-transforms-congressionally-mandated-health-offices-into-ghost-towns-00340176.
- ⁸⁷ Mole, Beth. "NSF Director Resigns amid 55% Budget Cut, Mass Layoffs from Trump Admin." *Ars Technica*. April 24, 2025. https://arstechnica.com/science/2025/04/nsf-director-resigns-amid-55-budget-cut-mass-layoffs-from-trump-admin/.
- ⁸⁸ Palmer, Kathryn. "NSF Halts New Funding and Caps Indirect Rate Costs." *Inside Higher Ed.* May 5, 2025. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/government/science-research-policy/2025/05/05/nsf-halts-new-funding-and-caps-indirect-rate.
- 89 *Grant Watch*. https://grant-watch.us/.

- ⁹⁰ Mueller, Benjamin. "Trump Administration Slashes Research into L.G.B.T.Q. Health." *The New York Times*, May 4, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/05/04/health/trump-administration-slashes-research-intolgbtq-health.html.
- ⁹¹ Montague, Zach. "Trump's Cuts to N.I.H. Grants Focused on Minority Groups Are Illegal, Judge Rules." *The New York Times*, June 16, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/06/16/us/politics/trump-nih-grants-cut.html.
- ⁹² Vasquez, Krystal. "NSF Budget Proposal Slashes Funding across the Agency." Chemical & Engineering News. https://doi.org/10.1021/cen-95151-News.
- ⁹³ Frazin, Rachel. "Trump Eyes Major Cuts to NOAA Research." *The Hill.* April 11, 2025. https://thehill.com/policy/energy-environment/5245481-trump-eyes-major-cuts-to-noaa-research/.
- ⁹⁴ Baraniuk, Chris. "Inside the Desperate Rush to Save Decades of US Scientific Data from Deletion." *BBC*. April 23, 2025. https://www.bbc.co.uk/future/article/20250422-usa-scientists-race-to-save-climate-data-before-its-deleted-by-the-trump-administration.
- ⁹⁵ Arrington, Rep. "Text H.R.1 119th Congress (2025-2026): One Big Beautiful Bill Act." *Congress.gov.* 2025. https://www.congress.gov/bill/119th-congress/house-bill/1/text. Pages 161 and 211.
- ⁹⁶ Baker, Camille. "How Could the Weather Service Change under Trump?" *The New York Times,* February 8, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/02/08/weather/national-weather-service-cuts-trump.html.
- ⁹⁷ Waldman, Scott. "NOAA Halts Upkeep of Critical Weather Satellites." *Scientific American*. April 7, 2025. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/amid-trump-cuts-noaa-halts-upkeep-of-critical-weather-satellites/.
- ⁹⁸ Dance, Scott. "NOAA Scrambles to Fill Forecasting Jobs as Hurricane Season Looms." *The Washington Post.* May 14, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/weather/2025/05/14/national-weather-service-vacancies-hurricane-season/.
- ⁹⁹ Irwin, Lauren. "Trump Cuts to Weather Monitoring, Climate Research Put Millions at Risk, Expert Warns." *The Hill.* May 6, 2025. https://thehill.com/blogs/blog-briefing-room/energy-a-environment/5285447-trump-cuts-weather-climate-research/.
- ¹⁰⁰ Freedman, Andrew, Emma Tucker, and Mary Gilbert. "Beleaguered Weather Service Defends Its Forecasts as Texas Officials Point Fingers over Flood Warnings." *CNN*. July 6, 2025. https://www.cnn.com/2025/07/05/climate/texas-flooding-forecast-response.
- ¹⁰¹ "Evaluating and Improving the Utility of Federal Advisory Committees." *Federal Register*. June 19, 2019. https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/06/19/2019-13175/evaluating-and-improving-the-utility-of-federal-advisory-committees.
- ¹⁰² "A Backward March: Another Month of Attacks on Federal Science." *The Equation.* April 2, 2025. https://blog.ucs.org/jules-barbati-dajches/a-backward-march-another-month-of-attacks-on-federal-science/.
- ¹⁰³ Reuters Staff. "Trump Administration Disbands Two Expert Panels on Economic Data." *Reuters*, March 4, 2025. https://www.reuters.com/world/us/trump-administration-disbands-two-expert-panels-economic-data-2025-03-05/.
- ¹⁰⁴ "LWVUS Sends Letter Opposing the Elimination of Census Committees" *League of Women Voters*. April 3, 2025. https://www.lwv.org/census/lwvus-sends-letter-opposing-elimination-census-committees.
- ¹⁰⁵ Newhouse, Sean Michael. "Advisory Government Transparency Committee Terminated." *Government Executive*. February 25, 2025. https://www.govexec.com/transition/2025/02/advisory-government-transparency-committee-terminated/403275/.

- ¹⁰⁶ Schneider, Mike. "Census Bureau under Trump Cuts Loose Expert Advisers Who Work for Free." *AP News.* March 4, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/census-bureau-commerce-department-howard-lutnick-3a56003b790aedce6e6c8ddd7c6b6943.
- ¹⁰⁷ The Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights. *Letter to Secretary Lutnick. The Leadership Conference.* May 7, 2025. https://civilrights.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Updated-Final-LCCHR-Census-Advisory-Committee-Letter-.pdf.
- ¹⁰⁸ Budryk, Zack. 2025. "EPA Dismisses Clean Air, Science Advisory Boards." The Hill. January 30, 2025. https://thehill.com/policy/energy-environment/5116562-trump-administration-dismisses-epa-committees/.
- ¹⁰⁹ Budryk, Zack. "EPA Dismisses Clean Air, Science Advisory Boards." *The Hill.* January 30, 2025. https://thehill.com/policy/energy-environment/5116562-trump-administration-dismisses-epa-committees/.
- ¹¹⁰ Johnson, Carolyn Y. "Women, Minorities Fired in Purge of NIH Science Review Boards." *The Washington Post.* April 16, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/science/2025/04/16/women-and-minorities-fired-nih-board-science/.
- ¹¹¹ "Mandate for Leadership: The Conservative Promise" *The Heritage Foundation*. p. 437-438, https://www.democrats.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/project_2025_original1.pdf.
- ¹¹² "COS Statement on 'Restoring Gold Standard Science' Executive Order." *Center for Open Science*. May 29, 2025. https://www.cos.io/about/news/cos-statement-on-restoring-gold-standard-science-executive-order.
- ¹¹³ Johnson, Carolyn Y. "Why Trump's Push for 'Gold-Standard Science' Has Researchers Alarmed." *The Washington Post.* May 31, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/science/2025/05/31/trump-science-gold-standard-politics/.
- ¹¹⁴ Sengupta, Somini. "The White House Gutted Science Funding. Now It Wants to 'Correct' Research." *The New York Times*, June 3, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/06/03/climate/executive-order-gold-standard-science.html.
- ¹¹⁵ Nyczepir, Dave. "U.S. Chief Data Scientist Explains Government's Push for Greater Use of Disaggregated Data." *FedScoop*. September 9, 2022. https://fedscoop.com/us-chief-data-scientist-interview/.
- ¹¹⁶ "The Release of the Equitable Data Working Group Report | OSTP | the White House." *The White House*. April 22, 2022. https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/ostp/news-updates/2022/04/22/the-release-of-the-equitable-data-working-group-report/.
- ¹¹⁷ "Mandate for Leadership: The Conservative Promise" *The Heritage Foundation.* p. 280, https://www.democrats.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/project_2025_original1.pdf.
- ¹¹⁸ Nowrasteh, Alex. "How the Trump Administration Can Obstruct Future Government Attempts to Reestablish Affirmative Action and DEI Policies," *Cato Institute,* January 27, 2025. https://www.cato.org/blog/how-trump-administration-can-obstruct-future-government-attempts-reestablish-affirmative.
- ¹¹⁹ The Leadership Conference on Civil and Human Rights. https://civilrights.org/.
- ¹²⁰ *Urban Institute.* https://www.urban.org/.
- ¹²¹ Anne E. Casey Foundation. https://www.aecf.org/.
- ¹²² "U.S. Office of Management and Budget's Statistical Policy Directive No. 15: Standards for Maintaining, Collecting, and Presenting Federal Data on Race and Ethnicity" *U.S. Office of Management and Budget*, March 28, 2024. https://spd15revision.gov/.

- ¹²³ Rozen, Courtney. "Employee Race Data Wiped from Federal Human Resources Website." *Bloomberg Law.* April 17, 2025. https://news.bloomberglaw.com/daily-labor-report/employee-race-data-wiped-from-federal-human-resources-website.
- ¹²⁴ Heddles, Claire. "Trump Admin's New 'Loyalty Test' Hiring Plan Nixes Demographic Data Collection." *NOTUS*. June 3, 2025. https://www.notus.org/trump-white-house/trump-admin-hiring-plan.
- ¹²⁵ Dam, Andrew Van. "This Data May Vanish under Trump, so We Charted It." *The Washington Post*. February 14, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2025/02/14/this-data-may-vanish-under-trump-so-we-charted-it/.
- ¹²⁶ Cooper, Jonathan J. "A List of Government Web Pages That Went Dark Friday." *AP News*. January 31, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/government-websites-changes-trump-transgender-dei-orders-383fc983c6ca48804f1404cbc61ee9e9.
- ¹²⁷ Jarmin, Ron., Christy, James., Morgan E., Rachel., Mancini J., Dominic. "Ensuring transparency and accurate data on hate crimes." *Movement Advancement Project*, June 5, 2025. https://www.lgbtmap.org/file/06.09.2025_NCVS%20Letter_Final.pdf.
- ¹²⁸ Jingnan, Huo., Lawrence, Quil. "Here Are All the Ways People Are Disappearing from Government Websites." *NPR*. March 19, 2025. https://www.npr.org/2025/03/19/nx-s1-5317567/federal-websites-lgbtq-diversity-erased.
- ¹²⁹ Meyer, Ilhan H., Bouton, Lauren J.A., "Impact of Executive Orders on Access to Federal Data." *Williams Institute*. February, 2025. https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/access-federal-lgbt-data/.
- ¹³⁰ Cole, Samantha. "Massive, Unarchivable Datasets of Cancer, Covid, and Alzheimer's Research Could Be Lost Forever." *404 Media*. April 4, 2025. https://www.404media.co/nih-archives-repositories-marked-for-review-for-potential-modification/.
- ¹³¹ Bruka, Bekim. "US Justice Department Eliminates Federal Law Enforcement Accountability Database." *JURIST News.* February 24, 2025. https://www.jurist.org/news/2025/02/us-justice-department-eliminates-federal-law-enforcement-accountability-database/.
- ¹³² "National Law Enforcement Accountability Database." *Bureau of Justice Statistics*. 2025. https://bjs.ojp.gov/national-law-enforcement-accountability-database#footnote3.
- ¹³³ Free, Andrew. "Trump's Deleted Police Misconduct Database Was Full of Prison and Border Incidents." *The Appeal.* February 27, 2025. https://theappeal.org/nlead-trumps-deleted-police-misconduct-database-full-of-prison-and-border/.
- ¹³⁴ Casselman, Ben, and Colby Smith. "Lutnick Remarks on Removing Government Spending in GDP Data Raises Fears." *The New York Times*, March 4, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/03/04/business/economy/gdp-data-lutnick-commerce-secretary.html.
- ¹³⁵ The Heritage Foundation. "Mandate for Leadership: The Conservative Promise" *The Heritage Foundation*. p. 680. https://www.democrats.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/project_2025_original1.pdf.
- ¹³⁶ Percival, Kelly and Cea, Brianna. "Four Takeaways from the Supreme Court's Census Citizenship Question Ruling." *Brennan Center for Justice*. July 1, 2019. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/four-takeaways-supreme-courts-census-citizenship-question-ruling.
- ¹³⁷ NPR. "A New Study Quantifies How a Citizenship Question Would Likely Hurt Census Accuracy." *The American Redistricting Project.* March 25, 2025. https://thearp.org/news/new-study-quantifies-how-citizenship-question-would-likely-hurt-census-accuracy/.
- ¹³⁸ "A Bill to Require a Citizenship Question on the Decennial Census, to Require Reporting on Certain Census Statistics, and to Modify Apportionment of Representatives to Be Based on United States Citizens instead of All Individuals. (S. 2205)." *GovTrack.us*. 2025. https://www.govtrack.us/congress/bills/119/s2205.

- ¹³⁹ "MyDataStory." *Data Foundation*. 2025. https://datafoundation.org/pages/mydatastory.
- ¹⁴⁰ *Demographic Analytics Advisors*. https://www.demoadvisors.com/home.
- ¹⁴¹ America's Essential Data. https://essentialdata.us/.
- ¹⁴² Data Disaggregation Network. https://wearethedata.us/about/.
- 143 "Share Your Data Story." Data Disaggregation Network. https://wearethedata.us/data-stories/.
- ¹⁴⁴ Gurin, Joel. "How Open Data Fuels Key Business Sectors." *FedScoop*. August 16, 2017. https://fedscoop.com/open-data-fuels-key-business-sectors/.
- ¹⁴⁵ Gurin, Joel. "Leveraging Government Data: How It's Making a Difference." *FedScoop*. June 28, 2018. https://fedscoop.com/leveraging-government-data-making-difference/.
- ¹⁴⁶ Federal Data Strategy. https://strategy.data.gov/.
- ¹⁴⁷ "The Nation's Data at Risk, Year Two Ongoing Monitoring." *American Statistical Association*, 2025. https://www.amstat.org/the-nations-data-at-risk-year-two-ongoing-monitoring.
- ¹⁴⁸ "SAFE-Track." *Data Foundation*. https://datafoundation.org/pages/safetrack.
- ¹⁴⁹ *Dataindex.us.* https://dataindex.us/.
- ¹⁵⁰ *Demographic Analytics Advisors.* https://www.demoadvisors.com/home.
- ¹⁵¹ *Internet Archive*. https://archive.org/.
- ¹⁵² "Wayback Machine." *Internet Archive.* https://web.archive.org/.
- ¹⁵³ End of Term Archive. https://eotarchive.org/.
- ¹⁵⁴ Coalition for National Science Funding. https://www.cnsf.us/.
- ¹⁵⁵ Stein, Rob. "In a Reversal, the Trump Administration Restores Funding for Women's Health Study." *NPR*. April 24, 2025. https://www.npr.org/sections/shots-health-news/2025/04/24/nx-s1-5376473/hhs-restores-funding-for-womens-health-initiative.
- ¹⁵⁶Lee, Stephanie M. "These NIH Grants Were Terminated. Now They're Back." *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. April 29, 2025. https://www.chronicle.com/article/these-nih-grants-were-terminated-now-theyre-back.
- ¹⁵⁷ Union of Concerned Scientists. https://www.ucs.org/.
- 158 Finucane, Melissa., Ekwurzel, Brenda., Frey, H. Christopher. "Running an Independent

Science Advisory Committee" *Union of Concerned Scientists*. May 2025. https://www.ucs.org/sites/default/files/2025-05/Scientist%20Advisory%20Committees_final_rev_1.pdf.

- ¹⁵⁹ "White House OSTP Wants Input on National AI R&D Strategic Plan." *MeriTalk*. May 2, 2025. https://cdn.meritalk.com/articles/white-house-ostp-wants-input-on-national-ai-rd-strategic-plan/.
- ¹⁶⁰ "Stopping Waste, Fraud, and Abuse by Eliminating Information Silos." The White House. March 21, 2025. https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/2025/03/stopping-waste-fraud-and-abuse-by-eliminating-information-silos/.
- ¹⁶¹ "Using Data to Help Veterans and Their Families." *The Center for Open Data Enterprise.* Accessed June 24, 2025. https://s3.amazonaws.com/odenterprise/VA+Roundtable+Report.pdf.
- ¹⁶² American Civil Liberties Union. https://www.aclu.org/.

- ¹⁶³ "Data Silos, Dossiers, and Surveillance: The Unintended Risks of Federal Data Consolidation | American Civil Liberties Union." American Civil Liberties Union. April 28, 2025.
- https://www.aclu.org/documents/data-silos-dossiers-and-surveillance-the-unintended-risks-of-federal-data-consolidation.
- ¹⁶⁴ "Privacy Act of 1974." *U.S. Department of Justice.*. October 4, 2022. https://www.justice.gov/opcl/privacy-act-1974.
- ¹⁶⁵ Frenkel, Sheera., Krolik, Aaron. 2025. "Trump Taps Palantir to Compile Data on Americans." *The New York Times*, May 30, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/05/30/technology/trump-palantir-data-americans.html?smid=nytcore-android-share.
- ¹⁶⁶ Office of Management and Budget. "Technical Supplement to the 2026 Budget." *GovInfo*, 2025 https://www.linkedin.com/posts/nickrhart_the-detailed-version-of-the-presidents-fy-activity-7334331417109159938-0ADc/?rcm=ACoAAABMmfkBeLRcYh5pkOwQrbbEah3ut7YXtn4.
- ¹⁶⁷ Sutton, Sam. "Big Trouble in Labor Data." *Politico*. June 11, 2025. https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morning-money/2025/06/11/big-trouble-in-labor-data-00398947.
- ¹⁶⁸ Rugaber, Christopher. "Inflation Data Threatened by Government Hiring Freeze as Tariffs Loom." *AP News.* June 4, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/inflation-economy-trump-tariffs-bls-labora70c57bfd04a4deb9d7a3bb08f99aba9.
- ¹⁶⁹ McLaughlin, Michael. "Consolidating Statistical Agencies Would Lead to Better Data, More Efficient Spending." *Center for Data Innovation.* September 16, 2018. https://datainnovation.org/2018/09/consolidating-statistical-agencies-would-lead-to-better-data-more-efficient-spending/.
- ¹⁷⁰ Wasserstein, Ron. "The Case for Careful Reform of the Federal Statistical System: Preserving Data Integrity in an Era of Government Transformation." *Federal News Network.* May 28, 2025. https://federalnewsnetwork.com/commentary/2025/05/the-case-for-careful-reform-of-the-federal-statistical-system-preserving-data-integrity-in-an-era-of-government-transformation/.
- ¹⁷¹ "Modernizing the Federal Statistical System." *American Statistical Association*, 2025. https://www.amstat.org/policy-and-advocacy/modernizing-the-federal-statistical-system/.
- ¹⁷² Lo Wang, Hansi. "DOGE Created a 'Survey of Surveys' for a Push to Cut Some Government Data Collection." *NPR*. May 23, 2025. https://www.npr.org/2025/05/23/nx-s1-5409331/doge-data-census-bureau.
- 173 "Timmons Leads Bipartisan Push to Reestablish Commission on Evidence-Based Policymaking." \textit{U.S. Representative William Timmons.} May 13, 2025.

https://timmons.house.gov/news/documentsingle.aspx?DocumentID=195.

- 174 "The Impact Map." The Impact Project. https://theimpactproject.org/the-impact-map/.
- ¹⁷⁵ Arrington, Rep. "Text H.R.1 119th Congress (2025-2026): One Big Beautiful Bill Act." *Congress.gov.* 2025. https://www.congress.gov/bill/119th-congress/house-bill/1/text. Pages 204-205.
- ¹⁷⁶ Young, Shalanda. "Memorandum: Phase 2 Implementation of the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018: Open Government Data Access and Management Guidance," Executive Office of the President Office of Management and Budget, January 15, 2025. https://bidenwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2025/01/M-25-05-Phase-2-Implementation-of-the-Foundations-for-Evidence-Based-Policymaking-Act-of-2018-Open-Government-Data-Access-and-Management-Guidance.pdf.
- ¹⁷⁷ OMB M-25-05 p. 21
- ¹⁷⁸ OMB M-25-05 p. 27
- ¹⁷⁹ "What We Do: Roundtables." The Center for Open Data Enterprise. https://www.opendataenterprise.org/what-we-do#roundtables.

- 180 Just Security. https://www.justsecurity.org/.
- ¹⁸¹ Just Security. "Litigation Tracker: Legal Challenges to Trump Administration Actions." *Just Security.* May 13, 2025. https://www.justsecurity.org/107087/tracker-litigation-legal-challenges-trump-administration/.
- ¹⁸² Personal communication, Amy O'Hara and Christopher Dick.
- ¹⁸³ "Government Ethics Group Sues Trump Administration for Hiding Federal Spending Information from the Public." *Public Citizen*. April 8, 2025. https://www.citizen.org/news/government-ethics-group-sues-trump-administration-for-hiding-federal-spending-information-from-the-public/.
- 184 "Commonwealth of Massachusetts v. Kennedy, Jr.", No. 1:25-cv-10814 (D. Mass. filed Apr. 4, 2025). $Court listener, 2025... \ https://www.court listener.com/docket/69843493/commonwealth-of-massachusetts-v-kennedy-jr/.$
- ¹⁸⁵ American Public Health Association et al. v. National Institutes of Health et al., 1:25-cv-10787 (U.S. District Court for the District of MA 2025).
- ¹⁸⁶ Boone, Rebecca, and Amanda Seitz. "20 attorneys general ask federal judge to reverse deep cuts to US Health and Human Services." *AP News*. May 5, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/lawsuit-hhs-kennedy-attorneys-general-health-794d685fdb4e9855bc0840125677c372.
- ¹⁸⁷ Schonfeld, Zach. "Dem AGs Sue over Trump Administration's Education Department Layoffs." *The Hill.* March 13, 2025. https://thehill.com/regulation/court-battles/5192635-trump-education-department-democrat-ag-lawsuit/.
- ¹⁸⁸ "LDF Sues U.S. Department of Education on Behalf of Education Research Organizations over Discontinuation of Critical Demographic Data Collection." *Legal Defense Fund*. April 24, 2025. https://www.naacpldf.org/press-release/ldf-sues-u-s-department-of-education-on-behalf-of-education-research-organizations-over-discontinuation-of-critical-demographic-data-collection/.
- ¹⁸⁹ Hampton, Deon J. "Harvard Researchers Sue the Trump Administration for Removing Their Work from Public Website." *NBC News.* March 13, 2025. https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/harvard-researchers-sue-trump-administration-removing-work-public-webs-rcna196244.
- ¹⁹⁰ Johnson, Carla K. "Amid HHS Layoffs, Data on Drug Use and Mental Health Could Sit Unused." AP News. April 2, 2025. https://apnews.com/article/hhs-layoffs-addiction-survey-data-d863235ec762858ee309f4189c8e8c80.
- ¹⁹¹ Department of Government Efficiency. "Besides the Census itself, the @USCensusBureau performs 102 additional surveys costing \$2.2 billion..." *X.* May 20, 2025. https://x.com/DOGE/status/1924888248008245742.
- ¹⁹² Hart, Nick. "Statement about Reported DOGE Activities Affecting Federal Statistics." *Data Foundation*. May 21, 2025. https://datafoundation.org/news/press-releases-and-statements/620/620-Statement-about-Reported-DOGE-Activities-Affecting-Federal-Statistics.
- ¹⁹³ Turbes, Corinna. "Building Structural Safeguards for Federal Data Preservation." *Just Security*. April 28, 2025. https://www.justsecurity.org/110870/beyond-data-rescue-safeguards-federal-data-preservation/.
- ¹⁹⁴ OMB Memorandum M-25-02 p. 7
- ¹⁹⁵ Sunstein, Cass R. "Memorandum: Information Collection under the Paperwork Reduction Act," *Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget [Archive]*, April 7, 2010, https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/omb/assets/inforeg/PRAPrimer_04072010.pdf.
- 196 "America's Data Index." Dataindex.us.
- ¹⁹⁷ "Information Collection Request (ICR) Tracker." *Dataindex.us.* 2025. https://dataindex.us/icr.

- ¹⁹⁸ Gardner, Lauren, and Cheney, Kyle. "Judge Orders Trump Admin to Restore Removed Health Agency Webpages." *Politico*. February 11, 2025. https://www.politico.com/news/2025/02/11/health-agency-webpage-removal-lawsuit-00203582.
- ¹⁹⁹ Kramer, Alexis. "Judge Rules against Trump Administration's Removal of HHS Web Content." *Endpoints News*. July 3, 2025. https://endpoints.news/judge-rules-against-trump-administrations-removal-of-hhs-web-content/?utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=845%20-
- %20HHS%20loses%20case%20over%20removed%20web%20content%20Novar.
- ²⁰⁰ Zraick, Karen. "Farmers Sue over Deletion of Climate Data from Government Websites." *The New York Times*, February 24, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/02/24/climate/agriculture-farmer-website-data-lawsuit.html?referringSource=articleShare&smid=nytcore-ios-share.
- ²⁰¹ Zraick, Karen. "Farmers Sued over Deleted Climate Data. So the Government Will Put It Back." *The New York Times,* May 12, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/2025/05/12/climate/trump-deleted-climate-website-farmers-lawsuit.html.
- ²⁰² "Forest Service U.S. Department Of Agriculture. "A Guide To The Climate Risk Viewer." *U.S. Department Of Agriculture,* November 2024. https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GOVPUB-A13-PURL-gpo234739/pdf/GOVPUB-A13-PURL-gpo234739.pdf.
- ²⁰³ "Administrative Data." *Wikipedia*. April 19, 2022. https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Administrative_data.
- ²⁰⁴ George, Robert M. "Expert View: Harnessing the Power of Administrative Data in State Government." *NORC.* April 2025. https://www.norc.org/research/library/harnessing-power-administrative-data-state-government.html.
- ²⁰⁵ "ONC 20 Years." Assistant Secretary for Technology Policy. https://www.healthit.gov/20years/.
- ²⁰⁶ The Center for Systems Science and Engineering. "COVID-19 Dashboard." *Johns Hopkins University of Medicine Coronavirus Resource Center*. March 10, 2023. https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html
- ²⁰⁷ "US COVID-19 cases and deaths by state." *USA Facts.* https://usafacts.org/visualizations/coronavirus-covid-19-spread-map/.
- ²⁰⁸ Adams, Char, and Chiwaya, Nigel. "Map: See Which States Have Introduced or Passed Anti-DEI Bills." *NBC News*. March 2, 2024. https://www.nbcnews.com/data-graphics/anti-dei-bills-states-republican-lawmakers-map-rcna140756.
- ²⁰⁹ Alms, Natalie. "Labor Cancels Unemployment Modernization Grants for States" Nextgov/FCW, May 23, 2025. https://www.nextgov.com/modernization/2025/05/labor-cancels-unemployment-modernization-grants-states/405582/.
- ²¹⁰ Groshen, Erica. "State UI Data Are Critical Infrastructure." *Linkedin*, May 23, 2025. https://www.linkedin.com/posts/erica-l-groshen_this-picture-from-april-2024-hangs-in-my-activity-7331717565699817474-kyPn/?rcm=ACoAAABMmfkBeLRcYh5pkOwQrbbEah3ut7YXtn4.
- ²¹¹ Kingsbury, Kathleen. "Opinion | to Understand Global Migration, You Have to See It First." *The New York Times*, April 17, 2025. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2025/04/17/opinion/global-migration-facebook-data.html.
- ²¹² Strong, Ben. "The Entire Planet Is Now Searchable with Earth Index. What Do You Want to Find?" *Medium. Earth Genome*. March 26, 2025. https://medium.com/earthrisemedia/the-entire-planet-is-now-searchable-with-earth-index-what-do-you-want-to-find-ad25a25c48e1.
- ²¹³ Climate Trace. https://climatetrace.org/.
- ²¹⁴ Gilmour, Jonathan. "The Trump Administration Is Sabotaging Your Scientific Data." *The Guardian*. April 21, 2025. https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2025/apr/21/trump-administration-scientific-data-climate.

- ²¹⁵ "American Community Survey.' U.S. Census Bureau. http://census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/.
- ²¹⁶ "America's Essential Economic and Social Data at Risk -2025 Update the Urgent National Need to Protect and Enhance the American Community Survey Data." *The Census Project.* 2025. https://thecensusproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Census-ACS-Report-2025-v5.pdf.
- ²¹⁷ Verhulst, Stefaan. Zable, Adam. "Unlocking Public Value with Non-Traditional Data: Recent Use Cases and Emerging Trends." *Open Data Policy Lab.* April 9. 2025. https://opendatapolicylab.org/articles/new-blog-post-unlocking-public-value-with-non-traditional-data-recent-use-cases-and-emerging-trends/.
- ²¹⁸ Humanitarian OpenStreetMap Team. https://www.hotosm.org/.
- ²¹⁹ Dungan, Rachel. "The Role of Crowdsourcing as Researchers Respond to Loss of Public Health Data." *AcademyHealth.* May 12, 2025. https://academyhealth.org/blog/2025-05/role-crowdsourcing-researchers-respond-loss-public-health-data.
- ²²⁰ "Democratizing Government Data with GenAI: Issues and Opportunities." *The Center for Open Data Enterprise*. February 2025. https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Nx1YrRdqOGiMvaCMCOZGtvH7xx 00M70/view?pli=1.
- 221 "Home Federal Data Forum." $\it Population~Reference~Bureau.~2024.$ https://federaldataforum.prb.org/home.
- ²²² "Open Data Roundtables." *The Center for Open Data Enterprise.* https://www.opendataenterprise.org/what-we-do#roundtables.
- ²²³ Shendruk, Amanda and Catherine Rampell. "The People Trump Is Trying to Delete from Government Records." *The Washington Post.* June 6, 2025. https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/interactive/2025/trump-deletions-government-records-defense-photos/?itid=hp_opinions_1.
- ²²⁴ Pahlka, Jennifer. 2023. *Recoding America*. Metropolitan Books.



The Center for Open Data Enterprise (CODE), a 501(c)3 nonprofit organization based in Washington, DC, was founded in January 2015. CODE's mission is **to harness the power of open and shared data for the public good**. We achieve our mission by working with government agencies, businesses, nonprofits, and researchers who are both data providers and data users.

We support the application of fully open data - free, publicly available data that anyone can access and use, without limitation - as well as strategies for sharing and exchanging data that requires privacy or security restrictions. CODE welcomes ideas and opportunities for collaboration at contact@odenterprise.org.